Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 29, 2023 ACCEPTED: September 3, 2023 PUBLISHED: September 11, 2023

# The relation between KMOC and worldline formalisms for classical gravity

Poul H. Damgaard,<sup>*a,b*</sup> Elias Roos Hansen,<sup>*a*</sup> Ludovic Planté<sup>*a*</sup> and Pierre Vanhove<sup>*c*</sup>

1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland

<sup>c</sup>Institut de Physique Theorique, Université Paris-Saclay,

pierre.vanhove@ipht.fr

ABSTRACT: We demonstrate the equivalence between observables in the KMOC and worldline formalisms for classical general relativity, highlighting the relation between the initial conditions in the two frameworks and how the Keldysh-Schwinger in-in formalism is contained in both of them even though the KMOC representation conventionally leads to the evaluation of scattering amplitudes with Feynman propagators. The relationship between the two approaches is illustrated in detail for the momentum kick at second Post-Minkowskian order.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Scattering Amplitudes, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2306.11454



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Niels Bohr International Academy, Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 17, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Theoretical Physics Department, CERN,

CEA, CNRS, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette Cedex, France

*E-mail:* phdamg@nbi.dk, erh.roos@gmail.com, ludo.plan@hotmail.fr,

# Contents

1	Introduction		
<b>2</b>	From KMOC to worldline observables		3
	2.1	Restriction to single-particle observables	10
		2.1.1 Interpretation of boundary/initial conditions	11
		2.1.2 Do we have enough boundary/initial conditions?	12
		2.1.3 Fixing the normalization	13
	2.2	Momentum kick	13
3	The diagrammatic comparison to one-loop order		
	3.1	Leading order comparison	18
	3.2	Next-to-leading order comparison	19
4	Conclusion		22
A	Wor	ldline Feynman rules	23
В	B Classical limit of the worldline		
С	C Derivatives with respect to worldline end-points		

# 1 Introduction

The amplitude-based approach to the Post-Minkowskian expansion of general relativity has proven to be remarkably efficient, and in a rapid sequence of steps it has led to a complete solution up to third Post-Minkowskian order [1-15]. At fourth Post-Minkowskian order [16-20] the amplitude method has so far provided most contributions, although not all terms associated with gravitational back-reaction from radiation have been computed yet using that framework. In the probe limit (where radiative effects can be ignored), results have already been presented up to fifth Post-Minkowskian order [21].

A number of new amplitude approaches have been suggested as the calculations have entered new and unexplored territory. This includes an effective Hamiltonian prescription for the conservative parts [4, 22–25] and, most notably, the KMOC-formalism for the computation of classical observables from quantum field theory [26–31]. Inspired by the fourth-order subtraction scheme explored in ref. [16] an amplitude formalism based on an exponential representation of the scattering matrix S was suggested in ref. [32]. It is covariant and has the advantage that it by construction starts with the classical contribution to the phase, followed by quantum corrections. It thus seems perfectly suited for a semiclassical expansion and the appearance of superclassical terms due to a rewriting in terms of the conventional T-matrix as in

$$\hat{S} = 1 + \frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{T} \tag{1.1}$$

are guaranteed to cancel. One can thus exclusively work with those parts that contain the classical pieces, ignoring all other terms. An alternative formulation based on the large-mass expansion field theory amplitudes [33, 34] has also been advocated [35–38] alternatively, by performing a multi-graviton soft expansion [21].

Amplitude-based methods have likewise proven to be very efficient in the context of the eikonal expansion [8, 10–13, 19, 20, 23, 39–44]. This formalism relies on the remarkable exponentiation of scattering amplitudes in impact parameter space, and it also provides the classical scattering angle from the loop expansion of amplitudes. Unitarity lies underneath the phenomenon of exponentiation and at lowest orders this is the same mechanism that removes superclassical terms from the classical potential by means of Born subtractions.

There are thus numerous ways to extract classical general relativity from the quantum mechanical scattering amplitudes. To the lowest orders the various methods are in direct correspondence with each other but as the order of perturbation theory grows they become quite different in details. Efficiency of computation thus becomes a crucial criterion, but there are also conceptual issues related to how gravitational radiation is taken into account.

Parallel to these developments based on scattering amplitudes in a quantum field theoretic formulation of gravity, there has also been impressive progress based on a Post-Minkowskian formulation of gravity using worldline formulations [45–47, 49–67]. In fact, at present the only full computation to fourth Post-Minkowskian order has been presented using this formalism [65, 68]. These worldline formulations manifestly bypass the need to consider cancellations of superclassical terms. Computations using worldlines resemble the integration techniques for loop calculations of scattering amplitudes (a perhaps inevitable situation since both boil down to Green function methods for classical gravity), and there are indeed clear links between worldline diagrams and scattering amplitude Feynman diagrams after localizing the loops on velocity cuts [13].

One particularly important aspect of the Post-Minkowskian worldline formulation is its adaptability to scattering in a dissipative setting such as it appears when gravitational radiation (and back-reaction) is taken into account [63, 64]. This requires the doubling of variables in a formulation that has its roots in the Keldysh-Schwinger closed-time path integral, making it unavoidable to work with either retarded or advanced propagators. This makes the link to conventional Feynman diagrams and scattering matrices less obvious and concerns have indeed been raised whether conventional scattering matrices can capture all features of gravitational radiation and the associated radiation reaction. However, the KMOC formalism expresses the change of any physical observable during a scattering process. Although it manifestly rewrites this in terms of conventional scattering matrices and ordinary Feynman propagators, it should also capture all effects due to radiation. In addition, when taking the classical limit of the KMOC formalism one essentially restricts the incoming massive states to lie on classical paths at  $t = -\infty$ . This seems to closely parallel the starting point of worldline calculations. One would therefore expect that these two apparently different approaches should be closely related. We shall here show that the two are indeed equivalent in the classical limit. The fact that the Keldysh-Schwinger closed time paths are used in the worldline calculations while the KMOC formalism rewrites the same observable in terms of standard Feynman diagrams with ordinary Feynman propagators is

just a convenient choice of representation. As expected, it turns out to be advantageous to not employ the conventional Born expansion of the S-matrix in terms of the scattering matrix T but rather make use of the fact that the full S-matrix serves as the time evolution operator. The KMOC expectation values can then be re-expressed in a path integral form that encapsulates both forward and backward evolution in time. This is the origin of the Keldysh-Schwinger doubling of degrees of freedom and the associated closed time paths, as expected from other contexts [69, 70]. Once the equivalence has been established, it is also of interest to look at how the diagrammatic equivalence works out in detail. We illustrate the correspondence up to second Post-Minkowskian order where complications from iterations (in worldline language) and loops (in KMOC language) are already present, and from which we therefore can learn how the diagrammatic match occurs.

Specifically, in section 2 we show to all orders in perturbation theory that classical observables computed in the KMOC framework are identical to those obtained from the in-in worldline theory. We conclude that the specification of initial conditions in KMOC, which are formally implemented in terms of suitable wave functions, leads to the intuitively obvious initial conditions imposed in the worldline language (and when solving the classical equations of motion). The momentum kick will serve as the default example of interest. In classical mechanics or, alternatively, the worldline theory, the momentum is traditionally defined in terms of the canonical momentum conjugate to a worldline position coordinate. In contrast, in the amplitude framework the momentum operator is ultimately defined as the generator of translation of a quantum field. Thus, these constitute two quite different starting points for computing what is supposedly the same quantity. Nevertheless, we conclude that the former definition indeed emerges out of the latter in the  $\hbar \rightarrow 0$ -limit.

Our work is related to a broad and rich literature on the formulation of various aspects of quantum field theory in terms of first-quantized worldlines (see, e.g., [71–75]). Additionally, similarities exist with analogous discussions on the emergence of the Schwinger-Keldysh contour in other contexts [69, 70, 76].

# 2 From KMOC to worldline observables

As alluded to in the introduction, we shall in this section show that the closed time-paths of the dissipative worldline formulation [63, 64] can be derived from the classical limit of the KMOC-formalism [26] without additional assumptions.

Before delving into the technicalities we will explain the origin of the equivalence in a more heuristic manner. Starting from KMOC [26], we consider the change in an observable  $\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle$  and insert a complete set of states  $|\text{out}\rangle$ ,<sup>1</sup> to get successively,

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= \langle \mathrm{in} | \hat{S}^{\dagger} \hat{O} \hat{S} | \mathrm{in} \rangle - \langle \mathrm{in} | \hat{O} | \mathrm{in} \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathrm{in} | \hat{S}^{\dagger} [ \hat{O}, \hat{S} ] | \mathrm{in} \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\mathrm{out}} \langle \mathrm{out} | \hat{S} | \mathrm{in} \rangle^* \left( \langle \mathrm{out} | \hat{O} \hat{S} | \mathrm{in} \rangle - \langle \mathrm{out} | \hat{S} \hat{O} | \mathrm{in} \rangle \right) \\ &= \sum_{\mathrm{out}} \langle \mathrm{out} | \hat{S} | \mathrm{in} \rangle^* \left( O_{\mathrm{out}} - O_{\mathrm{in}} \right) \langle \mathrm{out} | \hat{S} | \mathrm{in} \rangle , \end{split}$$
(2.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This complete set of states is denoted by  $|\text{out}\rangle$  in order to facilitate the interpretation of it spanning a generic final state at  $t = +\infty$ .

where for illustration we have taken the *in* and *out* states to be eigenstates of the operator  $\hat{O}$  with eigenvalues O. It is thus natural to interpret the change  $\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle$  as the average over two S-matrix elements where the states  $|\text{out}\rangle$  can be viewed as final states of a scattering process. The average is composed of one two-particle state propagating forward in time from  $t = -\infty$  to a general out-state  $|\text{out}\rangle$  with (or without) radiation followed by the scattering process backwards in time (the conjugate matrix element). If we write these two scattering processes in terms of path integral representations there will thus be two actions of opposite signs, those opposite signs being due to the complex conjugation. Initial conditions are specified at  $t = -\infty$  and the "final state" (which will also contain all the radiation) appears as an intermediate state before returning to  $t = -\infty$ , and thus arises entirely from the insertion of a complete set of states. This is the intuitive understanding of how the closed-time paths of dissipative dynamics are contained in the KMOC-formalism even though, at the stage above, both scattering matrix elements can be computed from standard Feynman diagrams and Feynman propagators.

In the following, we shall go through these arguments in greater detail. This will also shed light on the details of how the initial conditions are inherited from KMOC in the worldline formalism.

Our starting point is two massive scalars in an *in*-state without radiation,

$$|\mathrm{in}\rangle = \prod_{j=1,2} \int d\Pi_{p_j} \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p}_j) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} b_j p_j} |p_1 p_2; 0\rangle$$
(2.2)

where

$$d\Pi_{p_j} \equiv \frac{d^3 p_j}{(2\pi)^3 2E_j(p_j)}$$
(2.3)

and  $\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p}_j)e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}b_jp_j}$  is the wavefunction of particle j and  $E_j(p_j) = \sqrt{m_j^2 + p_j^2}$ . We refer to ref. [26] for further details. We restrict our observable  $\hat{O}$  so that it can be written in the single-excitation momentum basis of the scalar fields and some basis  $|K\rangle$  for the gravitational field as follows

$$\hat{O} = \hat{O}^{\dagger} = \sum_{K} \int d\Pi_{p_1} d\Pi_{p_2} | p_1 p_2; K \rangle O(\vec{p}, i\hbar \partial_{\vec{p}}; K) \langle p_1 p_2; K | .$$
(2.4)

We use a compact notation that suppresses scalar particle labels in the argument of O because indices will soon proliferate. The symbolic sum over K is a short-hand for the full on-shell phase space integrations and polarization sums of an arbitrarily large number of gravitons, or, alternatively, the functional integral over metric configurations, depending on which basis is most convenient. Eventually we will be most interested in the special case where O is taken to be the momentum of one of the scalar particles  $O(\vec{p}, i\hbar\partial_{\vec{p}}; K) = p_1^{\mu}$ , but initially we will be more general. Other interesting observables which also depend on  $i\hbar\partial_{\vec{p}}$  could for example be the angular momentum operator.

Let us now express the complete set of states  $|out\rangle$  in eq. (2.1) as a sum over single particle excitations of the scalar fields and any number of gravitons

$$1 = \sum_{K} \int d\Pi_{l_1} d\Pi_{l_2} |l_1 l_2; K\rangle \langle l_1 l_2; K| .$$
(2.5)

Using eqs. (2.2) and (2.4), we can then write (2.1) as

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= \sum_{K} \prod_{j=1,2} \int d\Pi_{p_{j}} d\Pi_{p_{j}'} d\Pi_{l_{j}} \tilde{\Phi}_{j} (\vec{p}_{j}')^{*} \tilde{\Phi}_{j} (\vec{p}_{j}) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} b_{j} (p_{j} - p_{j}')} \langle l_{1} l_{2}; K | \hat{S} | p_{1}' p_{2}'; 0 \rangle^{*} \qquad (2.6) \\ &\times \left[ O(\vec{l}, i\hbar \partial_{\vec{l}}; K) - O(\vec{p}, -i\hbar \partial_{\vec{p}}; 0) \right] \langle l_{1} l_{2}; K | \hat{S} | p_{1} p_{2}; 0 \rangle. \end{split}$$

The minus sign on the argument,  $-i\hbar\partial_{\vec{p}}$ , in the second term arises due to conjugation and the assumed Hermiticity of the observable in (2.4), i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle l_1 l_2; K | \hat{S} \hat{O} | p_1 p_2; 0 \rangle &= \langle p_1 p_2; 0 | \hat{O} \hat{S}^{\dagger} | l_1 l_2; K \rangle^* \\ &= O(\vec{p}, i\hbar \partial_{\vec{p}})^* \langle p_1 p_2; 0 | \hat{S}^{\dagger} | l_1 l_2; K \rangle^* \\ &= O(\vec{p}, -i\hbar \partial_{\vec{p}}) \langle l_1 l_2; K | \hat{S} | p_1 p_2; 0 \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Our aim is to write the S-matrix elements in terms of path integrals. First we introduce the scalar field operator

$$\hat{\phi}_j(t,\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{\hbar^{3/2}} \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 \sqrt{2E_j(p)}} \left\{ \hat{a}_{jp}(t) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} [E_j(p)(t-t_{\rm in}) - \vec{p} \cdot \vec{x}]} + \text{h.c.} \right\},$$
(2.7)

where  $t_{in}$  is the initial time, which we will push to  $-\infty$ . The phase containing  $t_{in}$  says that we have defined the creation and annihilation operators such that at time  $t = t_{in}$  the interaction-picture operator  $\hat{a}_{jp}(t_{in})$  coincides with the Heisenberg-picture operator. The scalar field momentum eigenstates can be written in terms of the  $a_{jp}$ -operators appearing on the right-hand side of (2.7) in the usual way

$$|p_1 p_2\rangle \equiv \sqrt{2E_1(p_1)2E_2(p_2)} \hat{a}_{1p_1}^{\dagger}(t_{\rm in}) \hat{a}_{2p_2}^{\dagger}(t_{\rm in})|0\rangle$$
(2.8)

We now define the initial eigenstates  $|\phi_j\rangle$  of the field operator (2.7),

$$\hat{\phi}_j(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}) |\phi_j\rangle = \phi_j(\vec{x}) |\phi_j\rangle \tag{2.9}$$

and likewise for the gravitational analog of (2.7)

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}) |h\rangle = h_{\mu\nu}(\vec{x}) |h\rangle \tag{2.10}$$

We can write the S-matrix in the basis of (2.10) as follows

$$\hat{S} = \hat{S}(t_{\rm in}, t_{\rm f}) = \int Dh e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} S_h[h]} \left| h_{\rm f} \right\rangle \hat{S}_{\phi}(h) \left\langle h_{\rm in} \right|$$
(2.11)

where

$$Dh \equiv \mathcal{N} \prod_{\vec{x} \,\rho\lambda} \prod_{t_{\rm in} \le t \le t_{\rm f}} dh_{\rho\lambda}(t, \vec{x}) \tag{2.12}$$

and

$$S_h[h] \equiv \int_{t_{\rm in}}^{t_{\rm f}} dt \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_{EH} + S_{GF}[h]$$
(2.13)

is the gauge-fixed Einstein-Hilbert action and  $|h_{\rm f}\rangle$  is the eigenstate of  $h_{\mu\nu}(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x})$  corresponding to the eigenvalue  $h_{\mu\nu}(t_{\rm f}, \vec{x})$  while  $|h_{\rm in}\rangle$  is the eigenstate corresponding to the eigenvalue  $h_{\mu\nu}(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x})$ . We will deal with the normalization  $\mathcal{N}$  in the very end when everything is put together. The operator  $\hat{S}_{\phi}(h)$  in (2.11) is defined as

$$\hat{S}_{\phi}(h) = \hat{S}_{\phi 1}(h)\hat{S}_{\phi 2}(h) = \prod_{j=1,2} \int D\phi_j e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\phi j}[h,\phi_j]} |\phi_{j,f}\rangle \langle \phi_{j,in}|$$
(2.14)

where the notation in (2.14) is analogous to (2.11). The  $S_{\phi j}[h, \phi_j]$  of eq. (2.14) is the action of a scalar field in curved space-time (see e.g., the last term in eq. (3.5) below).

We can now rewrite the S-matrix elements appearing in (2.6) using eq. (2.11)

$$\langle l_1 l_2; K | \hat{S} | p_1 p_2; 0 \rangle = \int Dh e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} S_h[h]} \langle K | h_f \rangle \langle h_{\rm in} | 0 \rangle \langle l_1 l_2 | \hat{S}_\phi(h) | p_1 p_2 \rangle$$
(2.15)

This allows us to focus on the  $\hat{S}_{\phi}(h)$ -matrix elements with  $h_{\mu\nu}$  playing the role of external sources. We can rewrite the  $\hat{S}_{\phi}(h)$ -matrix elements in terms of the field operators defined in (2.7) acting on the vacuum as follows

$$\langle l_1 l_2 | \hat{S}_{\phi}(h) | p_1 p_2 \rangle = \prod_{j=1,2} \frac{2E_j(l_j)}{\hbar^{3/2}} \frac{2E_j(p_j)}{\hbar^{3/2}} \int d^3 y_j d^3 x_j e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{l}_j \cdot \vec{y}_j + \frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{p}_j \cdot \vec{x}_j}$$
(2.16)  
 
$$\times \langle 0 | \hat{\phi}_j(t_{\rm in}, \vec{y}_j) \hat{S}_{\phi j}(h) \hat{\phi}_j(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_j) | 0 \rangle$$

We next consider the quantity

$$\langle 0|\hat{\phi}_j(t_{
m in}, \vec{y}_j)\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)\hat{\phi}_j(t_{
m in}, \vec{x}_j)|0
angle$$

in eq. (2.16). With the aim to make a transition to a worldline formulation we include a source J for the scalar field  $\phi$  in the action,

$$S_{\phi j}[\phi_j, h] \to S_{\phi j}[\phi_j, h, J] \equiv S_{\phi j}[\phi_j, h] + \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} J(x)\phi_j(x)$$
 (2.17)

so that the eigenvalues of the scalar field operators can be represented by variations with respect to the source at the temporal end points. The generating functional is defined as

$$Z_{j}[J;h] \equiv \int D\phi e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\phi j}[\phi_{j},h,J]} \langle 0|\phi_{\mathbf{f},j}\rangle \langle \phi_{\mathrm{in},j}|0\rangle$$
$$= Z_{j}[0;h] e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar}\int d^{4}x d^{4}y \sqrt{-g(y)}J(y)\Delta_{j}(x,y;h)\sqrt{-g(x)}J(x)}$$
(2.18)

where the Green function  $\Delta_j(x, y; h)$  is defined as the solution to

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\right) + \frac{m_{j}^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} - i\epsilon\right)\Delta_{j}\left(x, y; h\right) = \frac{\delta^{4}\left(x - y\right)}{\sqrt{-g}}.$$
(2.19)

The shown  $i\epsilon$ -prescription is a consequence of the presence of the factor

$$\langle 0|\phi_{\mathrm{f},j}\rangle\langle\phi_{\mathrm{in},j}|0\rangle\sim\lim_{\epsilon\to0^+}\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\epsilon\int d^4x\phi_j^2\right)$$
 (2.20)

in eq. (2.18) (see, e.g., ref. [77] for details). If we insert  $\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)$  given in (2.14) into  $\langle 0|\hat{\phi}_j(t_{\rm in},\vec{y}_j)\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)\hat{\phi}_j(t_{\rm in},\vec{x}_j)|0\rangle$  and write the result in terms of variations of (2.18), we obtain:

$$\langle 0|\hat{\phi}_{j}(t_{\rm in}, \vec{y}_{j})\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)\hat{\phi}_{j}(t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_{j})|0\rangle = i\hbar\Delta_{j}\left((t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_{j}), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_{j}); h\right)Z_{j}\left[0; h\right]$$

$$= i\hbar\Delta_{j}\left((t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_{j}), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_{j}); h\right)\langle 0|\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)|0\rangle.$$

$$(2.21)$$

Combining terms, we find:

$$\langle l_1 l_2; K | \hat{S} | p_1 p_2; 0 \rangle = \prod_{j=1,2} 4E_j(p_j) E_j(l_j) \int d^3 y_j d^3 x_j e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (\vec{p}_j \cdot \vec{x}_j - \vec{l}_j \cdot \vec{y}_j)} G_j(\vec{x}_j, \vec{y}_j; 0, K), \quad (2.22)$$

where

$$G_j(\vec{x}_j, \vec{y}_j; K_0, K) \equiv \frac{i}{\hbar^2} \int Dh e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} S_h[h]} \langle K|h_f \rangle \langle h_{\rm in}|K_0 \rangle \langle 0|\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)|0 \rangle \Delta_j((t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_j), (t_f, \vec{y}_j); h)$$

$$(2.23)$$

In this expression, the factor

$$\langle 0|\hat{S}_{\phi j}(h)|0\rangle = \int D\phi_j e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\phi j}[\phi_j,h]} \langle 0|\phi_{\mathbf{f},j}\rangle \langle \phi_{\mathrm{in},j}|0\rangle$$
(2.24)

represents fluctuations of the scalar fields, which can be ignored in the classical limit (the number of scalar matter particles is assumed to be fixed at all times). Up to a proportionality factor, one may interpret  $G_j(\vec{x}_j, \vec{y}_j; K_0, K)$  in the classical limit as the scalar Green function  $\Delta_j((t_{\rm in}, \vec{x}_j), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_j); h_{\rm cl})$  in a classical gravitational background  $h_{\rm cl}$ determined by the boundary conditions K and  $K_0$ .

These definitions allow us to write the original observable  $\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle$  back in (2.6) in the following form. Note that the various factors of  $2E_j(p)$  in (2.3) and (2.22) cancel, except for one case

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= \sum_{K} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \int d^{3}y_{j} d^{3}x_{j} d^{3}y_{j}' d^{3}x_{j}' G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}; 0, K) G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}', \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \\ & \times \int \frac{d^{3}p_{j} d^{3}p_{j}' d^{3}l_{j}}{(2\pi)^{9}} \tilde{\Phi}_{j}(\vec{p}_{j}) \tilde{\Phi}_{j}(\vec{p}_{j}')^{*} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{b}_{j} \cdot (\vec{p}_{j} - \vec{p}_{j}')} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (\vec{l}_{j} \cdot \vec{y}_{j}' - \vec{p}_{j}' \cdot \vec{x}_{j}')} \\ & \times \left[ O(\vec{l}, i\hbar \partial_{\vec{l}}; K) - O(\vec{p}, -i\hbar \partial_{\vec{p}}; 0) \right] 2E_{j}(l_{j}) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} (\vec{l}_{j} \cdot \vec{y} - \vec{p}_{j} \cdot \vec{x}_{j})} \end{split}$$
(2.25)

We have here chosen a frame where  $b_j^0 = 0$  for simplicity. To move further towards a resemblance with the worldline formalism, we will take a closer look at the momentum integrals. We first consider the last line of eq. (2.25). The derivative  $i\hbar\partial_{l_j}$  in the operator  $O(\vec{l}, i\hbar\partial_{\vec{l}}; K)$  acts as follows

$$i\hbar\partial_{\vec{l}_{j}}\left[E_{j}(l_{j})e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\vec{l}_{j}\cdot\vec{y}-\vec{p}_{j}\cdot\vec{x})}\right] = \left[\vec{y}+i\hbar\partial_{l_{j}}\log E_{j}(l_{j})\right]E_{j}(l_{j})e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\vec{l}_{j}\cdot\vec{y}-\vec{p}_{j}\cdot\vec{x})}$$
(2.26)
$$=\left[\vec{y}+\mathcal{O}(\hbar)\right]E_{j}(l_{j})e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\vec{l}_{j}\cdot\vec{y}-\vec{p}_{j}\cdot\vec{x})}$$

As long as we are only interested in the classical limit, we can therefore replace  $i\hbar\partial_{\vec{l}_j} \to \vec{y}_j$ in (2.25). Additionally, we can replace  $-i\hbar\partial_{\vec{p}_j} \to \vec{x}_j$  and also  $\vec{p}_j \to -i\hbar\partial_{\vec{x}_j}$  and  $\vec{l}_j \to i\hbar\partial_{\vec{y}_j}$ . This allows us to write eq. (2.25) as follows

$$\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle = \sum_{K} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \int d^{3}y_{j} d^{3}x_{j} d^{3}y_{j}' d^{3}x_{j}' G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}; 0, K)$$

$$\times \left\{ O[i\hbar \partial_{\vec{y}}, \vec{y}; K] - O[-i\hbar \partial_{\vec{x}}, \vec{x}; 0] \right\}$$

$$\times \left\{ \mathcal{E}_{j}(\vec{y}_{j} - \vec{y}_{j}') \Phi_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}) \Phi_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}')^{*} G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}', \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \right\}$$

$$(2.27)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{j}(\vec{y}_{j} - \vec{y}_{j}') \equiv \int \frac{d^{3}l_{j}}{(2\pi)^{3}} 2E_{j}(l_{j})e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\vec{l}_{j}(\vec{y}_{j} - \vec{y}_{j}')} = 2\hbar^{3}E_{j}(i\hbar\partial_{\vec{y}_{j}})\delta^{3}(\vec{y}_{j} - \vec{y}_{j}'), \qquad (2.28)$$

and where

$$\Phi_j(\vec{x}_j) \equiv \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p}) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{p} \cdot (\vec{x}_j - \vec{b}_j)}, \qquad (2.29)$$

are the Fourier transform of the wave functions.

We now focus on the integrals over the primed variables  $\vec{x}_j', \vec{y}_j'$  in eq. (2.27). The  $\vec{y}_j'$ -integral is readily done by exploiting the  $\delta$ -function in (2.28). We deal with the  $\vec{x}_j'$ -integral by moving it to the last couple of factors in (2.27) that depend on  $x_j'$  (which we will temporarily denote I) and undo the Fourier transform of the wave functions to get

$$I \equiv \int d^3 x'_j \Phi_j(\vec{x}_j) \Phi_j(\vec{x}_j')^* G_j(\vec{x}_j', \vec{y}_j'; 0, K)^*$$

$$= \hbar^3 \int d^3 x'_j \int \frac{d^3 p d^3 q}{(2\pi)^6} \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p})^* \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p} + \hbar \vec{q}) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{p} \cdot (\vec{x}_j' - \vec{b}_j) + \frac{i}{\hbar} (\vec{p} + \hbar \vec{q}) \cdot (\vec{x}_j - \vec{b}_j)} G_j(\vec{x}_j', \vec{y}_j'; 0, K)^*.$$
(2.30)

In the last line, we have made the change of variables  $\vec{p}' = \vec{p} + \hbar \vec{q}$ , where the factor of  $\hbar$  is a question of convenience at present. Using the same line of reasoning as in ref. [26] we now replace  $\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p})^* \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p} + \hbar \vec{q}) = |\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p})|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar)$ . If we further make a change of variables  $\vec{x}_j' = \vec{x}_j + \Delta \vec{x}_j$ , we get, successively,

$$\begin{split} I &= \hbar^{3} \delta^{3}(\vec{x}_{j} - \vec{b}_{j}) \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} |\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(\vec{p})|^{2} \int d^{3} \Delta x_{j} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \vec{p} \cdot \Delta \vec{x}_{j}} G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j} + \Delta \vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \qquad (2.31) \\ &= \hbar^{3} \delta^{3}(\vec{x}_{j} - \vec{b}_{j}) \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} |\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(\vec{p})|^{2} \int d^{3} \Delta x_{j} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \Delta \vec{x}_{j} \cdot (\vec{p} + i\hbar \partial_{\vec{x}_{j}})} G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \\ &= \hbar^{6} \delta^{3}(\vec{x}_{j} - \vec{b}_{j}) \int d^{3}p |\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(\vec{p})|^{2} \delta^{3}(\vec{p} + i\hbar \partial_{\vec{x}_{j}}) G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \\ &= \hbar^{6} \delta^{3}(\vec{x}_{j} - \vec{b}_{j}) |\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(-i\hbar \partial_{\vec{x}_{j}})|^{2} G_{j}(\vec{x}_{j}, \vec{y}_{j}'; 0, K)^{*} \end{split}$$

When we next insert this into eq. (2.27), we can immediately perform the  $x_j$ -integral using the  $\delta$ -function  $\delta^3(\vec{x}_j - \vec{b}_j)$ . Furthermore, we can also perform the  $y_j'$  using the  $\delta$ -function in the second equality of eq. (2.28). This leaves us with only the  $y_j$ -integral

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= 2\hbar^9 \sum_K \prod_{j=1}^2 \int d^3 y_j G_j(\vec{b}_j, \vec{y}_j; 0, K) \\ &\times \left[ O(i\hbar \partial_{\vec{y}}, \vec{y}; K) - O(-i\hbar \partial_{\vec{b}}, \vec{b}; 0) \right] \\ &\times E_j (i\hbar \partial_{\vec{y}_j}) |\tilde{\Phi}_j(-i\hbar \partial_{\vec{b}_j})|^2 G_j(\vec{b}_j, \vec{y}_j; 0, K)^* \end{split}$$
(2.32)

Having obtained the result in (2.32), we now go back and unpack the expression for  $G_j$  given in eq. (2.23); in particular, we want to write the Green function  $\Delta_j((t_{\rm in}, \vec{b}_j), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_j); h)$  defined by eq. (2.23) in terms of its worldline-representation [78, 79]

$$\Delta_j(x,y;h) = \mathcal{N} \int_0^\infty dT \int_{z(0)=x}^{z(T)=y} \mathcal{D}z e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{m_j}{2} \int_0^T ds \left\{ g_{\mu\nu}(z) \dot{z}^{\mu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \frac{\hbar^2}{4m_j^2} R(z) + 1 \right\}},$$
(2.33)

where  $\mathcal{D}z \equiv \prod_{0 < \tau < T} d^4 z(\tau) \sqrt{-g(z(\tau))}$ ,  $\mathcal{N}$  is a constant, and R is the Ricci scalar. Equation (2.33) includes all quantum effects; this is overkill for our purpose, so we first make some approximations that hold exactly in the classical limit. First, we note that the T-integral in (2.33) can be done in the classical limit using the principle of stationary phase (see appendix B). It is interesting to note that the same result was reached in ref. [52] without invoking the principle of stationary phase, but instead by using the on-shell initial conditions. With a few more simplifications that are also shown in detail in the appendix and which only consist in removing quantum mechanical corrections, we can effectively replace (2.33), as evaluated with the relevant boundaries, by

$$\Delta_{j}((t_{\rm in}, \vec{b}_{j}), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_{j}); h) = \mathcal{N} \int_{z_{j}(\tau_{\rm in,j}) = (t_{\rm in}, \vec{b}_{j})}^{z_{j}(\tau_{\rm f,j}) = (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_{j})} Dz_{j} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{\tau_{\rm in,j}}^{\tau_{\rm f,j}} d\tau L_{j}[z_{j}, \dot{z}_{j}, h]}$$
(2.34)

which is valid in the classical limit (here, some factors have been absorbed into  $\mathcal{N}$ ). The Lagrangian appearing in (2.34) is the Polyakov form of the classical Lagrangian for a point particle on curved space-time:

$$L_{j}[z_{j}, \dot{z}_{j}, h] = -\frac{m_{j}}{2} \left[ g_{\mu\nu}(z_{j}) \frac{dz_{j}^{\mu}}{d\tau} \frac{dz_{j}^{\nu}}{d\tau} + 1 \right].$$
(2.35)

The derivation of (2.34) in appendix B also shows that we should identify the length of the parameter interval  $\tau_{f,j} - \tau_{in,j}$  with the classical proper time difference between the space-time points  $(t_{in}, \vec{b}_j)$  and  $(t_f, \vec{y}_j)$  that get pushed to infinity when we push  $t_f - t_{in}$  to infinity.

We now insert (2.34) into eq. (2.23). Although straightforward, the expression we obtained in eq. (2.32), also contains derivatives such as

$$i\hbar\partial_{\vec{y}_j}G_j(\vec{b}_j,\vec{y}_j;0,K)^*$$

which we need to consider carefully. These derivatives will act on  $\Delta_j((t_{\rm in}, \vec{b}_j), (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_j); h)^*$  so we have to evaluate derivatives of the boundaries of the worldline path-integral in (2.34) which is slightly non-trivial. The full evaluation of these relations is provided in appendix C. The result is

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{y})^{n}\Delta_{j}(x,y;h)^{*} = \mathcal{N}\int_{z(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j})=x}^{z(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j})=y} Dz \left\{ \left( -\frac{\partial L_{j}}{\partial \dot{z}} \Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}} \right)^{n} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar) \right\} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}}^{\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}} d\tau L_{j}} (-i\hbar\partial_{x})^{n}\Delta_{j}(x,y;h)^{*} = \mathcal{N}\int_{z(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j})=x}^{z(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j})=y} Dz \left\{ \left( \frac{\partial L_{j}}{\partial \dot{z}} \Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}} \right)^{n} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar) \right\} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}}^{\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}} d\tau L_{j}}.$$
 (2.36)

It is convenient to introduce

$$\mathcal{P}_{j}^{\mu}(\tau) \equiv -\eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial L_{j}[z_{j}, \dot{z}_{j}; h]}{\partial \dot{z}_{j}^{\nu}} = (\mathcal{P}_{j}^{0}(\tau), \vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j}(\tau))$$
(2.37)

Based on the Lagrangian (2.35), this quantity may also be written as  $\mathcal{P}_{j\mu} = m_j g_{\mu\nu}(z_j) \dot{z}_j^{\nu}$ . Substituting (2.34) into eq. (2.23) and using eqs. (2.36) and (2.37), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= \mathcal{N} \sum_{K} \int Dh^{(1)} Dh^{(2)} \langle K | h_{\rm f}^{(1)} \rangle \langle h_{\rm in}^{(1)} | 0 \rangle \langle K | h_{\rm f}^{(2)} \rangle^* \langle h_{\rm in}^{(2)} | 0 \rangle^* \\ &\times \prod_{j=1}^{2} \int d^3 y_j \int_{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{{\rm f},j}) = (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_j)}^{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{{\rm f},j}) = (t_{\rm f}, \vec{y}_j)} Dz_j^{(1)} Dz_j^{(2)} E_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{{\rm f},j})) | \tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{{\rm in},j})) |^2 \\ &\times \left\{ O[\vec{\mathcal{P}}^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm f}), \vec{z}^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm f}); K] - O[\vec{\mathcal{P}}^{(2)}(\tau_{{\rm in}}), \vec{z}^{(2)}(\tau_{{\rm in}}); 0] \right\} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])} \end{split}$$

The prefactor  $\mathcal{N}$  in (2.38) is a new accumulation of constants. We have also introduced the full action  $S[z_j, h]$  as the combination

$$S[z_j,h] \equiv S_h[h] + \int_{\tau_{\text{in},j}}^{\tau_{\text{f},j}} d\tau L_j[z_j,\dot{z}_j,h] + \mathcal{O}(\hbar)$$
(2.39)

where, as anticipated earlier, we have ignored the extra terms of quantum origin. These terms, in particular, can create scalar particles.

We note that  $-i\hbar\partial_{\vec{b}_j}$  in (2.32) has how become replaced by  $\vec{\mathcal{P}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{in},j})$ , and  $i\hbar\partial_{\vec{y}_j}$  has become replaced by  $\vec{\mathcal{P}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{f},j})$ . Having both  $G_j$  and its complex conjugate in eq. (2.32), we have been forced to double the degrees of freedom by using two sets of fields  $(z^{(i)}, h^{(i)})$ , i = 1, 2. Here we see the emergence of the Keldysh-Schwinger path integral prescription. This is as expected since the analysis is fully general and can include dissipation in the form of gravitational radiation.

## 2.1 Restriction to single-particle observables

The result (2.38) is unwieldy and it may be difficult to see the forest for the trees. It can be made more clear if we give up a bit of generality and assume that the observable is restricted to one of the two scalar particles, say particle 1. That is, we now make the following replacement

$$O[\vec{\mathcal{P}}^{(2)}(\tau), \vec{z}^{(2)}(\tau); K] \to O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1^{(2)}(\tau_1), \vec{z}_1^{(2)}(\tau_1)]$$
(2.40)

and  $O_1$  can be regarded as a function of the proper time of particle 1. This allows us to write the difference between the final and initial value in eq. (2.38) as an integral over the proper time of particle 1

$$O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm f,1}), \vec{z}_1^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm f,1})] - O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm in,1}), \vec{z}_1^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm in,1})] = \int_{\tau_{\rm in,1}}^{\tau_{\rm f,1}} d\tau_1 \frac{d}{d\tau_1} O_1 \qquad (2.41)$$

Having assumed that  $O_1$  is independent of K we can remove it from (2.38) by evaluating the sum

$$\sum_{K} \langle K | h_{\rm f}^{(1)} \rangle \langle K | h_{\rm f}^{(2)} \rangle^* = \langle h_{\rm f}^{(2)} | h_{\rm f}^{(1)} \rangle = \prod_{\mu\nu,\vec{x}'} \delta(h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)}(t_{\rm f},\vec{x}') - h_{\mu\nu}^{(2)}(t_{\rm f},\vec{x}'))$$
(2.42)

We next introduce the following short-hand notation for the path integral over these "closed time paths"

$$\int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)}(\ldots) \equiv \int Dh^{(1)} Dh^{(2)} \langle 0|h_{\text{in}}^{(2)} \rangle \langle h_{\text{in}}^{(1)}|0\rangle \prod_{\mu\nu,\vec{x}'} \delta\left(h_{\mu\nu}^{(1)}(t_{\text{f}},\vec{x}') - h_{\mu\nu}^{(2)}(t_{\text{f}},\vec{x}')\right)(\ldots)$$
(2.43)

With this notation and with the stated restriction of the observable in (2.40), we can now write eq. (2.38) more compactly as

$$\begin{split} \langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle &= \mathcal{N} \int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)} \int d^3 y_j \int_{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j})=(t_{\mathrm{f}},\vec{y}_j)}^{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j})=(t_{\mathrm{f}},\vec{y}_j)} Dz_j^{(i)} |\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\mathrm{in}}^{(2)})|^2 \\ &\times \left( E_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\mathrm{f}}^{(2)}) \int_{\tau_{\mathrm{in},1}}^{\tau_{\mathrm{f},1}} d\tau_1 \frac{d}{d\tau_1} O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1^{(2)}, \vec{z}_1^{(2)}] \right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])} \end{split}$$
(2.44)

which implicitly includes the obvious product over particle labels j = 1, 2 and over the two copies of variables i = 1, 2. The KMOC difference in observables from  $t = -\infty$  to  $t = +\infty$  has thus been expressed as (the time integral of) a one-point function over paths as in the Keldysh-Schwinger prescription.

## 2.1.1 Interpretation of boundary/initial conditions

Having obtained (2.44), we would like to understand the consequences of having the (squared) wave function  $|\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\mathrm{in}}^{(2)})|^2 = |\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}))|^2$  inside the path integral. In line with KMOC [26], we assume that for widely separated scalar particles, the function  $|\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{p})|^2$  will be strongly centered around the classical momentum  $\vec{p} \sim m_j \vec{u}_j$ ; i.e.

$$|\tilde{\Phi}(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\text{in}}^{(2)})|^2 \approx 2E_j(m_j \vec{u}_j) \delta^3(m_j \vec{u}_j - \vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\text{in}}^{(2)})$$
(2.45)

The interpretation of the presence of  $|\tilde{\Phi}(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\text{in}}^{(2)})|^2$  in the path integral (2.44) is then clear if we view the time-discretized version of the path integral, and replace

$$\mathcal{P}_{j\mu,\text{in}}^{(2)} = m_j \eta_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}_j^{(2)\nu}(\tau_{\text{in},j})$$

$$\approx m_j \eta_{\mu\nu} (z_j^{(2)\nu}(\tau_{\text{in},j} + \delta\tau) - b_j^{\nu}) / \delta\tau$$
(2.46)

where we again have assumed that there is no gravitational field initially, i.e.

$$g_{\mu\nu}(z(\tau_{\text{in},j})) = \eta_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (2.47)

Using eq. (2.45), we may then write the part of the expression in (2.44) that we are focused on, in the time-discretized fashion

$$\int_{(t_{\rm in},\vec{b}_j)}^{(t_{\rm f},\vec{y}_j)} Dz_j^{(2)} |\tilde{\Phi}(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\rm in}^{(2)})|^2 \propto \lim_{N \to \infty} \int \prod_{n=1}^N \{ d^4 z_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\rm in,j} + n\delta\tau) \} \delta^3(m_j \vec{u}_j - \vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\rm in}^{(2)})$$
(2.48)

with  $\delta \tau \sim (\tau_{\mathrm{f},j} - \tau_{\mathrm{in},j})/N$ . Thus, when we replace  $\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\mathrm{in}}^{(2)}$  in eq. (2.48) according to (2.46), we can regard the  $\delta$ -function in (2.48) as fixing the spatial part of the n = 1 integration variable to be

$$\vec{z}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{in},j} + \delta\tau) = \vec{b}_j + \delta\tau \vec{u}_j \tag{2.49}$$

Another way of phrasing this is that the presence of  $|\tilde{\Phi}(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\text{in}}^{(2)})|^2$  in (2.44) ensures that we only integrate over paths for which

$$\dot{z}_{j}^{(2)}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = \vec{u}_{j},$$
(2.50)

as expected intuitively.

#### 2.1.2 Do we have enough boundary/initial conditions?

We have just uncovered how the initial conditions on  $\bar{z}_{j}^{(2)}(\tau)$  are inherited directly from the KMOC wave functions in eq. (2.2). The specific appearance of the copy "2" variables was in fact arbitrary and due to the order in which we performed the integrations. Still, are we guaranteed that this apparent asymmetry cures itself in the final answer? There are other issues. For example, why is the time component of  $z_{j}^{(2)\mu}(\tau_{\text{in},j} + \delta\tau)$  not restricted by any  $\delta$ -function constraint in (2.48) in a similar fashion as the spatial components?

These considerations raise the question whether we have enough boundary conditions to specify a classical path. In other words, if we were to solve for the classical trajectory for both  $z_j^{(1)\mu}$  and  $z_j^{(2)\mu}$  by applying the principle of stationary phase to (2.44), what information should we supply as initial/boundary conditions for the equations of motion? The answer is the following: First the trajectory for  $\bar{z}_{i}^{(2)}(\tau)$  is specified by the initial conditions from the KMOC wave functions as just discussed, i.e.,  $\vec{z}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = \vec{b}_j$  and  $\dot{\vec{z}}_j^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = \vec{u}_j$ . We then note that this also determines a unique classical the spatial end-point  $\vec{y}_{j,\text{cl}} = \vec{z}_{i,\text{cl}}^{(2)}(\tau_{\text{f},j})$ , which according to eq. (2.44) is required to be the same for  $\vec{z}_{j,\text{cl}}^{(1)}(\tau_{\text{f},j})$ . So  $\vec{z}_{j}^{(1)}(\tau)$  is now uniquely determined by the boundary conditions  $\vec{z}_{j}^{(1)}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = \vec{b}_{j}$  and  $\vec{z}_{j}^{(1)}(\tau_{\text{f},j}) = \vec{y}_{j,\text{cl}}$ . This implies that the entire classical paths for the (2) and (1) variables are indeed the same because specifying the start-point and end-point determines a unique classical path. Of course, the fact that the trajectories are identical now also has the consequence that the initial classical velocity is the same  $\dot{\vec{z}}_{i}^{(1)}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = \vec{u}_{j}$ , even though this was never explicitly specified for the "1"-variables in (2.44). Finally, the classical zeroth components  $z_i^{(i),0}(\tau)$ are uniquely specified by the boundary-conditions:  $z_j^{(i),0}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = t_{\text{in}}$  and  $z_j^{(i),0}(\tau_{\text{f},j}) = t_{\text{f}}$ for i = 1, 2.

In summary, we conclude that eq. (2.44) does contain all the information we need to calculate the classical paths for all variables  $z_i^{(i)\mu}(\tau)$ . Specifically

$$\vec{z}_{j}^{(2)}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = \vec{b}_{j}, \ \dot{\vec{z}}_{j}^{(2)}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = \vec{u}_{j}, \qquad z_{j}^{(2),0}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = t_{\mathrm{in}}, \ z_{j}^{(2),0}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}) = t_{\mathrm{f}}$$
$$\vec{z}_{j}^{(1)}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = \vec{b}_{j}, \ \vec{z}_{j}^{(1)}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}) = \vec{z}_{j}^{(2)}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}), \ z_{j}^{(1),0}(\tau_{\mathrm{in},j}) = t_{\mathrm{in}}, \ z_{j}^{(1),0}(\tau_{\mathrm{f},j}) = t_{\mathrm{f}}$$
(2.51)

which is equivalent to

for i = 1, 2.

#### 2.1.3 Fixing the normalization

Finally, we will fix the accumulation of overall constants in  $\mathcal{N}$  more explicitly. We first note that factors such as  $E_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,f}^{(2)})$  in the path integral (2.44) will have no influence on the classical solution for the trajectories since it is a smooth function of the worldline points and without oscillatory phases. This means that we can replace it by its classical value and move it outside the path integral where it can be absorbed into the overall constant. This kind of manipulation has already been done in other instances where we have discarded quantum effects from the path integral measure.

Following the discussion of boundary conditions above, let us introduce a simplified notation for the worldline path integral that expresses more clearly the fact that we are only integrating over paths consistent with the initial conditions from KMOC

$$\int_{\text{in-in}} Dz_j^{(i)}(\ldots) \bigg|_{\substack{\dot{z}_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_j \\ z_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_j}} \equiv \int d^3y_j \int_{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{\text{in},j}) = (t_{\text{in}},\vec{b}_j)}^{z_j^{(i)}(\tau_{\text{f},j}) = (t_{\text{f}},\vec{y}_j)} Dz_j^{(i)} |\tilde{\Phi}_j(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_{j,\text{in}}^{(2)})|^2(\ldots).$$
(2.53)

With the help of this notation we can write (2.44) as

$$\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle = \mathcal{N} \int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)} Dz_j^{(i)} \left( \int d\tau_1 \frac{d}{d\tau_1} O_1 \right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])} \bigg|_{\substack{\dot{z}_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_j \\ z_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_j}}$$
(2.54)

We now fix  $\mathcal{N}$  by unitarity,

$$1 = \langle \text{in} | \hat{S}^{\dagger} \hat{S} | \text{in} \rangle = \mathcal{N} \int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)} Dz_{j}^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_{j}^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_{j}^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])} \left| \begin{vmatrix} \dot{z}_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_{j} \\ \dot{z}_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_{j} \end{vmatrix},$$
(2.55)

which gives our final result

$$\langle \Delta \hat{O} \rangle = \frac{\int Dh^{(i)} Dz_j^{(i)} \left( \int d\tau_1 \frac{d}{d\tau_1} O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1, \vec{z}_1] \right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])}}{\int Dh^{(i)} Dz_j^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])}}{\vec{z}_{j,in}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_j} \left| \dot{z}_{j,in}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_j \\ \vec{z}_{j,in}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_j \right|$$
(2.56)

Starting from the KMOC-expression for a general observable (2.1), and restricting ourselves to the classical limit, we have thus explicitly mapped it to an *in-in* worldline expression with boundary conditions inherited from the KMOC wave functions. As stressed, we have demonstrated this equivalence only in the classical limit, given the numerous times terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar)$  have been neglected in the analysis.

#### 2.2 Momentum kick

After this general prescription we now look specifically at the classical momentum kick which is related to the scattering angle. Picking one of the scalar particles, we therefore choose the vector operator

$$\hat{O}_{1}^{\mu} = \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} = \sum_{K} \int d\Pi_{p_{1}} d\Pi_{p_{2}} |p_{1}p_{2}; K\rangle \, p_{1}^{\mu} \langle p_{1}p_{2}; K| \, .$$
(2.57)

Because the on-shell  $\delta$ -functions were integrated out early on in the above analysis, the zeroth component of the momentum is identified as  $p_1^0 = E_1(p_1) = \sqrt{m_1^2 + \vec{p}_1^2}$  everywhere. In order to see that this is equivalent to the worldline formalism, we need to identify  $E_1(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1)$  with

$$\mathcal{P}_1^0 \equiv -\eta^{0\nu} \frac{\partial L_1}{\partial \dot{z}_1^{\nu}} \,. \tag{2.58}$$

This identification follows from the fact that initial scalar particles are free particles plus the fact that the path integrals in (2.56) can be solved classically using the principle of stationary phase which replaces the variables with solutions to the classical equations of motion. We note that for a free particle the classical equations of motion together with the result in eq. (B.13) indeed imply that we can identify the zeroth component of the canonical momentum with  $\mathcal{P}_1^0 = E_1(\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1)$ . Since only the end-points appear in (2.56) we have

$$\int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} O_1[\vec{\mathcal{P}}_1, \vec{z}_1]^\mu = \int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} \mathcal{P}_1^\mu = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} \frac{\partial L_1[z_1, \dot{z}_1; 0]}{\partial \dot{z}_1^\nu}$$
(2.59)

Inserting this into eq. (2.56) we then obtain

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{\int Dh^{(i)} Dz_{j}^{(i)} \int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} \frac{\partial L_{1}[z_{1},\dot{z}_{1};0]}{\partial \dot{z}_{1}^{\nu}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(S[z_{j}^{(1)},h^{(1)}] - S[z_{j}^{(2)},h^{(2)}])}}{\int Dh^{(i)} Dz_{j}^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(S[z_{j}^{(1)},h^{(1)}] - S[z_{j}^{(2)},h^{(2)}])}}{\dot{z}_{j,\mathrm{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_{j}} \left| \dot{z}_{j,\mathrm{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_{j} \right|$$

$$(2.60)$$

which is the starting point for calculating the momentum kick from worldlines when dissipation is taken into account [63, 64].

For definiteness we will henceforth follow the effective field theory approach [64] for the practical calculations, although one could just as well have chosen the Worldline Quantum Field Theory formulation [63] to evaluate (2.60). Let us first write (2.60) as,

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{\int Dz_{j}^{(i)} \left( \int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} \frac{\partial L_{1}[z_{1},\dot{z}_{1};0]}{\partial \dot{z}_{1}^{\nu}} \right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} S_{\text{eff}}[z_{j}^{(1)},z_{j}^{(2)}]}}{\int Dz_{j}^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} S_{\text{eff}}[z_{j}^{(1)},z_{j}^{(2)}]}} \left| \dot{z}_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{u}_{j} z_{j,\text{in}}^{(i)} = \vec{b}_{j}} \right|$$
(2.61)

where the effective action  $S_{\text{eff}}$  is defined by

$$e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\text{eff}}[z_j^{(1)}, z_j^{(2)}]} \equiv \int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(S[z_j^{(1)}, h^{(1)}] - S[z_j^{(2)}, h^{(2)}])}$$

$$= \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar}\left[\int d\tau (L[z^{(1)}, \dot{z}^{(1)}; 0] - L[z^{(2)}, \dot{z}^{(2)}; 0]) + S_{\text{eff}}^{(\text{int})}[z^{(1)}, z^{(2)}]\right]\right]$$
(2.62)

We have separated out the two copies of the free part of the worldline Lagrangian  $L[z^{(i)}, \dot{z}^{(i)}; 0] = \sum_j L_j[z^{(i)}_j, \dot{z}^{(i)}_j; h_{\mu\nu}(z^{(i)}_j) = 0]$ . We now choose to evaluate the remaining path integral in (2.61) by the principle of stationary phase, again ignoring quantum corrections. This replaces the worldline parameters  $z^{(i)}_j(\tau)$  with their classical values, which we will denote  $r_j(\tau)$ . The expression thus becomes

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \int d\tau \frac{d}{d\tau} \frac{\partial L_1[r_1, \dot{r}_1; 0]}{\partial \dot{r}_1^{\nu}}$$
(2.63)

The equations of motion providing  $r_j(\tau)$  subject to the initial/boundary conditions stated above, can be written as

$$0 = \left. \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}[z^{(1)}, z^{(2)}]}{\delta z_{j}^{(1)\mu}} \right|_{z_{j}^{(i)}=r_{j}} = \underbrace{\frac{\partial L_{j}[r_{j}, \dot{r}_{j}; 0]}{\partial r_{j}^{\mu}}}_{=0 \text{ (cf. eq. (2.35))}} - \frac{d}{d\tau} \frac{\partial L_{j}[r_{j}, \dot{r}_{j}; 0]}{\partial \dot{r}_{j}^{\mu}} + \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}^{(\text{int})}[z^{(1)}, z^{(2)}]}{\delta z_{j}^{(1)\mu}} \right|_{z_{j}^{(i)}=r_{j}}$$
(2.64)

Integrating this and using eq. (2.63), we obtain

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \int d\tau \left. \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}^{(\text{int})}[z^{(1)}, z^{(2)}]}{\delta z_{1}^{(1)\nu}} \right|_{z_{j}^{(i)} = r_{j}(\tau)}$$
(2.65)

We now expand the (variation of the) effective action perturbatively. Using the notation defined in appendix A (which is very similar to that of ref. [58]), equation (2.65) may be written as

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \left\{ G \begin{bmatrix} \mu & \mu & \mu \\ 0 & + & \mu \\ \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \end{bmatrix} + G^{2} \begin{bmatrix} \mu & \mu & \mu \\ 0 & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \end{bmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(G^{3}) \right\}$$
(2.66)

The vertex factors contain additional factors of G since they depend on the classical trajectories. The classical trajectories can also be written in the same notation

$$r_1^{\mu}(\tau) = \frac{1}{m_1} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} d\tau' \int_{-\infty}^{\tau'} d\tau'' \left\{ G \begin{bmatrix} \mu & \mu \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(G^2) \right\}$$
(2.67)

$$r_2^{\mu}(\tau) = \frac{1}{m_2} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} d\tau' \int_{-\infty}^{\tau'} d\tau'' \left\{ G \left[ \begin{array}{c} \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \mu \end{array} \right] + \mathcal{O}(G^2) \right\}$$
(2.68)

These equations may be solved iteratively by writing

$$r_{j}^{\mu}(\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G^{n} r_{j,n}^{\mu}(\tau)$$
(2.69)

where the first order trajectory is determined by the initial conditions

$$r_{j,0}^{\mu}(\tau) = b_j^{\mu} + u_j^{\mu}\tau$$
(2.70)

We can then expand the vertices

$$\bigcirc = \sum_{n=0} G^n \bigwedge^{(n)}$$
(2.71)

$$= \sum_{n=0} G^n$$
 (2.72)

As an example the first order solutions may be written as (the self-force terms happen to be zero at this order)

$$r_{1,1}^{\mu}(\tau) = \frac{1}{m_1} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} d\tau' \int_{-\infty}^{\tau'} d\tau'' \overset{\mu}{\overset{(0)}}}}{\overset{(0)}{\overset{($$

$$r_{2,1}^{\mu}(\tau) = \frac{1}{m_2} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} d\tau' \int_{-\infty}^{\tau'} d\tau'' \underbrace{\bigoplus_{\substack{0\\\mu}}}_{\mu}$$
(2.74)

and substituting the expansion (2.69) into the expression for the momentum change, gives the expansion of the momentum change to the given consistent order in G

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ G \\ \bullet \end{array} + G^{2} \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 1 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}{c} \mu \\ 0 \\ \bullet \end{array} \right]^{\mu} + \left[ \begin{array}$$

#### 3 The diagrammatic comparison to one-loop order

Having just derived the equivalence between the KMOC and worldline formalisms it is of interest to see in detail how it manifests itself in detailed calculations. Given that we had to make the formal rewritings at the level of the  $\hat{S}$ -matrix itself, rather than specific representations of it, it should not be surprising that the equivalence arises in a quite non-trivial manner order by order. We have already noted the cancellation of superclassical terms in the KMOC formalism, cancellations that are completely avoided in the wordline formalisms since their starting points are manifestly classical to leading order in  $\hbar$ . As above, the particular observable we will be focusing on is the momentum transfer  $\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle$  for one of the two matter particles. The KMOC expression can be written in terms of scattering amplitudes [26],

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle = \frac{i}{\hbar} \langle \operatorname{in} | [\mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu}, \hat{T}] | \operatorname{in} \rangle + \frac{1}{\hbar^{2}} \langle \operatorname{in} | \hat{T}^{\dagger} [\mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu}, \hat{T}] | \operatorname{in} \rangle = I_{(1)}^{\mu} + I_{(2)}^{\mu}$$
(3.1)

where the first term is given by

$$I_{(1)}^{\mu} = \int \frac{d^4q}{(2\pi)^2} \left\{ \theta(p_1^0 + \hbar q)\theta(p_2^0 - \hbar q)\delta(2p_1 \cdot q + \hbar q^2) \right.$$

$$\times \delta(2p_2 \cdot q - \hbar q^2)e^{-ib \cdot q}iq^{\mu} \xrightarrow{p_1}{p_2} \left. \left. \begin{array}{c} p_1 \\ p_2 \\ p_2$$

and the second term in (3.1) is given by

$$I_{(2)}^{\mu} = \sum_{K} \int \frac{d^4 q d^4 w_1 d^4 w_2}{(2\pi)^4} \begin{cases} \theta(p_1^0 + \hbar q^0) \theta(p_2^0 - \hbar q^0) \delta(2p_1 \cdot q + \hbar q^2) \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

$$\times \delta(2p_{2} \cdot q - \hbar q^{2}) \theta(p_{1}^{0} + \hbar w_{1}^{0}) \theta(p_{2}^{0} + \hbar w_{2}^{0}) \delta(2p_{1} \cdot w_{1} + \hbar w_{1}^{2}) \delta(2p_{2} \cdot w_{2} + \hbar w_{2}^{2})$$

$$\times e^{-ib \cdot q} \delta^{4}(w_{1} + w_{2} + \Sigma K) w_{1}^{\mu} \hbar^{-1} \xrightarrow{p_{2}} \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{1} + \hbar w_{1}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \left( \underbrace{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}}_{p_{2} + \hbar w_{2}} \right) \right) expanded to order \hbar^{0}$$

where the amplitudes are defined as T-matrix elements,

$$\langle p_{1}'p_{2}';\{k\}|\hat{T}|p_{1}p_{2};0\rangle = (2\pi)^{4}\delta^{4}(p_{1}+p_{2}-p_{1}'-p_{2}'-\hbar\Sigma_{j}k_{j}) \xrightarrow{p_{1}} \underbrace{\frac{p_{1}}{p_{2}}}_{p_{2}}$$
(3.4)

Here the scalar momenta are  $p_1 = m_1 u_1, p_2 = m_2 u_2$  and the impact parameter is  $b \equiv b_1 - b_2$ . The symbolic sum over K is again a short-hand for the combined sum and integrations over any number of graviton degrees of freedom. In general, the extraction of the classical contribution requires us to expand both the amplitudes and all other factors contained in the expressions (3.2) and (3.3). As is well-known, there will also be superclassical terms, which only cancel once all contributions are considered.

For illustration, we consider here the Einstein-Hilbert action fixed to harmonic gauge and coupled to the two scalars in standard fashion,

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \frac{\sqrt{-g}R}{16\pi G} + \left( \partial_\gamma h^{\gamma\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial^\mu h \right)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-g} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi_j \partial_\nu \phi_j - \frac{m_j^2}{\hbar^2} \phi_j^2 \right) \right],$$
(3.5)

where  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \sqrt{32\pi G}h_{\mu\nu}$ , *R* is the Ricci scalar, and  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  is the Minkowski metric with (+ - -) signature. A brief note on our  $\hbar$ -power-counting: Feynman rules with the present conventions assign to each graviton-scalar vertex a factor of  $1/\hbar^3$ , each scalar propagator comes with a factor of  $\hbar^3$ , each graviton three-vertex comes with a factor of  $1/\hbar$ , and each graviton propagator carries a factor of  $\hbar$  (if external gravitons were considered, they would each carry a factor of  $\sqrt{\hbar}$ ). Every diagram is multiplied by an overall factor of  $\hbar^5$ .

#### 3.1 Leading order comparison

Interestingly, already at tree level the Feynman diagram approach leads to the result in a way that is quite distinct from the worldline perspective. The only contribution to the KMOC expression at order G is

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{^{1}\mathrm{PM}} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} i q^{\mu} \begin{cases} \underbrace{\stackrel{p_{1}}{\longrightarrow} \quad p_{1} + \hbar q}{\longrightarrow} \\ \underbrace{\stackrel{p_{2}}{\longrightarrow} \quad p_{2} - \hbar q} \\ \underbrace{\stackrel{p_{2}}{\longrightarrow} \quad p_{2} - \hbar q} \\ \underbrace{\stackrel{p_{2}}{\longrightarrow} \quad p_{2} - \hbar q} \\ \underbrace{\stackrel{p_{3}}{\longrightarrow} \quad p_{2} - \hbar q} \\ O(\hbar^{0}) \end{cases}$$

$$= (8\pi Gm_{1}m_{2}) \left[ \frac{1}{2} (2\gamma^{2} - 1) \right] \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \delta(u_{1} \cdot q) \delta(u_{2} \cdot q) e^{ib \cdot q} \frac{(-iq^{\mu})}{q^{2}} \\ = -(4\pi Gm_{1}m_{2}) \left[ \frac{1}{\beta\gamma} (2\gamma^{2} - 1) \right] \delta_{j}^{\mu} \int \frac{d^{2}q_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{2}} e^{ib_{\perp} \cdot q} \frac{iq_{\perp}^{j}}{q_{\perp}^{2}} \\ = -2Gm_{1}m_{2} \frac{2\gamma^{2} - 1}{\sqrt{\gamma^{2} - 1}} \frac{\delta_{j}^{\mu} b_{\perp}^{j}}{b_{\perp}^{2}} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.6)$$

after inserting  $\beta \gamma = \sqrt{\gamma^2 - 1}$ , where  $\gamma \equiv u_1 \cdot u_2$ . In the third line we evaluated the expression in the rest frame of particle 1. The two  $\delta$ -function constraints in the above integral arise from the on-shell Lorentz-invariant phase space integrations in the KMOC-formula, ignoring quantum terms. To this leading 1PM order this is intuitively understandable and should correspond to treating the two scalars as classical objects moving on-shell. We can already anticipate that this interpretation becomes more subtle once we start to include loops in the Feynman diagram expansion. Let us compare the tree-level computation with the corresponding leading-order worldline calculation

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau G \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = 8\pi G m_1 m_2 \left[ \frac{1}{2} (2\gamma^2 - 1) \right] \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \int d\tau d\tau' e^{-iu_1 \cdot k\tau} e^{iu_2 \cdot k\tau'} e^{-ib \cdot k} \frac{ik^{\mu}}{k^2} \qquad (3.7)$$
$$= 8\pi G m_1 m_2 \left[ \frac{1}{2} (2\gamma^2 - 1) \right] \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^2} \delta(u_1 \cdot k) \delta(u_2 \cdot k) e^{ib \cdot k} \frac{-ik^{\mu}}{k^2}$$
$$= \langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle_{1\text{PM}}$$

The first observation is that the on-shell  $\delta$ -function constraints arise in a completely different manner, now from the Fourier transform of the (leading-order) straight-line trajectories. Apart from this, the Feynman rule for the worldline-worldline-graviton vertex matches closely that of the second quantized field theory to this order. The different  $i\epsilon$ -prescriptions clearly play no role at this order.

## 3.2 Next-to-leading order comparison

μ

Already at one-loop order the correspondence gets more intricate. We first draw the different Feynman diagrams that contribute to this order in the KMOC-formalism. The calculation is quite standard and can be found in many places in the literature but, we find it illuminating to write out all terms in order to explore the relationship to the corresponding worldline calculation. We list the Feynman diagrams here

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{^{2\mathrm{PM},V}} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} i q^{\mu} \left\{ \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \underbrace{p_{1} \qquad p_{1} + \hbar q} \\ \overbrace{\qquad } \\ \underbrace{p_{2} \qquad } \\ \overbrace{\qquad } \\ \underbrace{p_{2} \qquad } \\ \underbrace{p_{2} \qquad$$

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{^{2\mathrm{PM},\Lambda}} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} i q^{\mu} \begin{cases} \xrightarrow{p_{1}} & p_{1} + \hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} &$$

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},Y} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} i q^{\mu} \begin{cases} \underbrace{p_{1}}_{P_{2}} & p_{1} + \hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & h q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & -\hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar q \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar & - \hbar \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar & - \hbar \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar & - \hbar \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar & - \hbar \\ \xrightarrow{p_{2}} & - \hbar & - \hbar \\$$

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},Y'} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} iq^{\mu} \left\{ \underbrace{\xrightarrow{p_{1}} \qquad p_{1} + \hbar q}_{p_{2}}}_{p_{2} \rightarrow p_{2} \rightarrow hq} \right\}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{0})}$$
(3.11)

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},B.1} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta'(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{8} q^{2} e^{-ib \cdot q} iq^{\mu}$$

$$\times \hbar \left\{ \frac{\stackrel{p_{1}}{\longrightarrow} \qquad p_{1} + \hbar q}{\stackrel{p_{2}}{\longrightarrow} \qquad p_{2} - \hbar q} + \stackrel{p_{1}}{\xrightarrow{p_{2}} \qquad p_{2} - \hbar q} \right\}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{-1})}$$

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},B.2} = -\int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta'(p_{2} \cdot q)}{8} q^{2} e^{-ib \cdot q} iq^{\mu}$$

$$\times \hbar \left\{ \stackrel{p_{1}}{\xrightarrow{p_{2}} \qquad p_{2} - \hbar q}{\xrightarrow{p_{2} - \hbar q}} + \stackrel{p_{1}}{\xrightarrow{p_{2} - \hbar q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{-1})}$$

$$(3.13)$$

We note that the only non-vanishing classical contribution from the box plus crossed box diagrams in equations (3.12) and (3.13) arise from expanding the on-shell delta functions in eq. (3.2) to first order in  $\hbar$ . When multiplied by the superclassical part of the amplitude of order ( $\hbar^{-1}$ ) this provides at term of order ( $\hbar^{0}$ ). All other contributions than those listed above vanish. However, and as is well-known, there are also non-vanishing superclassical terms produced by these diagrams,

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},B,\hbar^{-1}} = \int \frac{d^{4}q}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)}{4} e^{-ib \cdot q} iq^{\mu}$$

$$\times \left\{ \underbrace{\frac{p_{1}}{p_{2}} \qquad p_{1} + \hbar q}_{p_{2}} + \underbrace{\frac{p_{1}}{p_{2}} \qquad p_{2} - \hbar q}_{p_{2} - \hbar q} + \underbrace{\frac{p_{1}}{p_{2}} \qquad p_{2} - \hbar q}_{p_{2} - \hbar q} \right\}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{-1})}$$

$$(3.14)$$

These should be cancelled by the subtractions due to the second term in eq. (3.1),

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{^{2PM,A,\hbar^{-1}}} = \int \frac{d^{4}q d^{4}w}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\delta(p_{1} \cdot q)\delta(p_{2} \cdot q)\delta(p_{1} \cdot w)\delta(p_{2} \cdot w)}{16} e^{-ib \cdot q} w^{\mu} \qquad (3.15)$$
$$\times \frac{1}{\hbar} \left\{ \underbrace{\xrightarrow{p_{1}, p_{1} + \hbar w}}_{p_{2}, p_{2}, hw} \times \underbrace{\xrightarrow{p_{1} + \hbar w}}_{p_{2}, hw} \xrightarrow{p_{1} - \hbar w}}_{p_{2}, hw} \underbrace{\xrightarrow{p_{2} - \hbar w}}_{p_{2}, hw} \xrightarrow{p_{2} - \hbar w}}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{0})} \right\}_{\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{0})}$$

and an explicit evaluation indeed gives

$$\langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},A,\,\hbar^{-1}} + \langle \Delta \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},B,\,\hbar^{-1}} = 0 \tag{3.16}$$

We now compare these Feynman diagrams from the KMOC-prescription with the 2PM evaluations using worldlines as in eq. (2.75) to find the following correspondence. First, for

the contributions  $\langle \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle_{2PM,Y}$  and  $\langle \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle_{2PM,Y'}$  in eqs. (3.10) and (3.11) we find<sup>2</sup>

$$\langle \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{^{2PM,Y'}} = \frac{\pi G^{2} m_{2}^{2} m_{1}}{4} \frac{\gamma^{2} + 3}{\sqrt{\gamma^{2} - 1}} \frac{\delta_{i}^{\mu} b_{\perp}^{i}}{(\vec{b}_{\perp}^{2})^{3/2}}$$

$$= G^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{-\infty}^{0} d\tau$$

$$(3.18)$$

These relations are diagrammatically very intuitive, and they match the correspondence with velocity cuts [13]. However, for the remaining contributions the correspondence may appear less obvious. We discover that we need to sum the contributions to  $\langle \mathbb{P}_1^{\mu} \rangle$  in eqs. (3.9) and (3.12) to get the first iterated worldline diagram in eq. (2.75),

$$\langle \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},\Lambda} + \langle \mathbb{P}_{1}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\mathrm{PM},\mathrm{B},1} = -\frac{4\pi G^{2} m_{2}^{2} m_{1} \gamma^{2}}{\sqrt{\gamma^{2} - 1}} \frac{\delta_{i}^{\mu} b_{\perp}^{i}}{(\vec{b}_{\perp}^{2})^{3/2}} + 2 \frac{G^{2} m_{1} m_{2}^{2} (2\gamma^{2} - 1)^{2}}{\vec{b}_{\perp}^{2} (\gamma^{2} - 1)^{2}} [\gamma u_{2}^{\mu} - u_{1}^{\mu}]$$

$$= G^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{-\infty}^{\mu} d\tau \int_{-\infty}$$

and likewise, the sum of eqs. (3.8) and (3.13) gives the other first iterated worldline diagram in eq. (2.75)

Ó

Looking at the diagrams, we observe that the worldline iterations can be viewed as producing, to this order, two contributions: one is the analog of higher order scalar-gravition vertices in Feynman diagrams, the other is the classical contributions from derivatives acting on

Å

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that these two worldline diagrams both have a symmetry factor of 1/2.

the  $\delta$ -function constraints (and additional power of  $q^2$ ). We are not used to thinking of such terms as being iterations in a conventional Feynman diagram analysis but it hints at the possibility of a re-organization (or merging) of the two formalisms where one chooses the most convenient representation to enumerate contributions. It should also be noted that the split in the box and crossed box diagrams is easily identified by which  $\delta$ -function constraint the derivative acts upon in the KMOC formulation. This is what gives rise to the asymmetric powers of  $m_1m_2^2$  and  $m_2m_1^2$ , respectively. We have not explored the diagrammatic correspondence in the alternative Worldline Quantum Field Theory [52, 63] but one might expect that the correspondence could be even simpler in that framework. Indeed, such simplifications have been noticed [75] in the context of off-shell currents.

## 4 Conclusion

The KMOC and worldline formulations of classical general relativity are both used to compute observables based on the *in-in* formalism of quantum field theory. It is thus natural to ask: what is the relationship between the two? This issue becomes particularly relevant when one considers dissipation in terms of gravitational radiation. The worldline formalism leads naturally to retarded (or advanced) propagators in this context, while the KMOC formalism evaluates matrix elements with the standard *i* $\epsilon$ -prescription of Feynman propagators. In this paper we have shown that there is no contradiction, and we have provided a formal derivation of the worldline formulation from the classical limit of the KMOC formalism. One of the features of the derivation is that the initial conditions that need to be imposed on the trajectories in the worldline formulation, can be viewed as originating directly from the initial-state wave-functions that specify the initial conditions of the system in KMOC.

One of the advantages of the worldline formulations is that they can work with the  $\hbar \rightarrow 0$  limit from the outset. The formal equivalence to the classical limit of the KMOC formalism demonstrates implicitly the exact cancellation of all superclassical terms if the KMOC matrix elements are evaluated by means of the standard Born expansion of the S-matrix. The interesting question of what happens to the equivalence at the quantum level remains unanswered by the present analysis where we repeatedly discarded quantum corrections. Both formalisms should remain valid (and hence equivalent) also when including quantum corrections. Although it is far from obvious how, all discarded quantum terms must thus conspire to keep the equivalence to all orders in  $\hbar$ .

Once this equivalence has been established, it is of interest to see in detail how computations in the two different approaches compare. We have illustrated this by comparing both tree-level and one-loop results for the momentum kick of two massive scalars scattering off each other. Interestingly, and this is apparent already at tree level, the contributions come from entirely different directions, eventually leading to identical results. At one-loop level one can clearly identify which parts of the calculations are in one-to-one correspondence with each other. The link between the two is most transparent if one organizes the quantum field theory calculation in terms of velocity cuts on the massive lines. It would be interesting to generalize this to any loop order and see if simplifications can be introduced in the worldline calculations based on what we know from the classical limit of amplitude calculations in the KMOC setting.

## Acknowledgments

We thank Jan Plefka for discussions. P.H.D. and P.V. would like to thank CERN Theory Department and LAPTh, respectively, for the hospitality during the completion of this work. P.V. is grateful to the Mainz Institute for Theoretical Physics (MITP) of the Cluster of Excellence PRIMA<sup>+</sup> (Project ID 39083149), for its hospitality and its partial support during the completion of this work. The work of P.H.D. was supported in part by DFF grant 0135-00089A, the work of E.R.H. was supported by the Rozenthal Foundation and ERC Starting Grant No. 757978 from the European Research Council, and the research of P.V. has received funding from the ANR grant "SMAGP" ANR-20-CE40-0026-01.

#### A Worldline Feynman rules

The derivation of the Feynman rules for the variation of the effective action in eq. (2.65) in the *in-in* formalism has been treated previously in, e.g., [64, 76]. We will here briefly repeat the main steps and define the notation we are using this paper.

The explicit equation for the interacting part of the effective action is given by

$$e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\text{eff}}^{(\text{int})}[z_j^{(1)}, z_j^{(2)}]} = \int_{\text{in-in}} Dh^{(i)} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(S_h[h^{(1)}, J^{(1)}] + S_p^{(\text{int})}[z^{(1)}; h^{(1)}] - S_h[h^{(2)}, J^{(2)}] - S_p^{(\text{int})}[z^{(2)}; h^{(2)}])}$$
(A.1)

where we have introduced the following notation for the interacting part of the point-particle action,

$$S_p^{(\text{int})}[z;h] = -\sqrt{8\pi G} \sum_j m_j \int d\tau_j h_{\alpha\beta}(z_j) \dot{z}_j^{\alpha} \dot{z}_j^{\beta}$$
(A.2)

Next, we write the purely gravitational part of the action as a sum of the kinetic and interacting parts, and we include a source  $J_{\mu\nu}$  for the gravitational field,

$$S_{h}[h,J] = -\frac{1}{2}M^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu} \int d^{4}x h_{\alpha\beta} \Box h_{\mu\nu} + S_{h}^{(\text{int})}[h] + \int d^{4}x J^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$$
(A.3)

where  $M^{\rho\lambda,\alpha\beta} = \eta^{\rho(\alpha}\eta^{\beta)\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\rho\lambda}\eta^{\beta\alpha}$ . Then we do a variable change to the Keldysh-variables for the gravitational field [76]. They are related to the  $\{1,2\}$ -variables used above by

$$\begin{bmatrix} h^{(1)} \\ h^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 1 \\ -\frac{1}{2} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} h^{(-)} \\ h^{(+)} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.4)

We define the interacting part of the action in the Keldysh-basis for the gravitational field as (we have kept the worldline variables in the non-Keldysh basis, since we are not integrating over them)

$$\mathcal{S}^{(\text{int})}[z^{(1)}, z^{(2)}, h^{(\pm)}] \equiv S^{(\text{int})}_{p+h}[z^{(1)}; h^{(+)} + \frac{1}{2}h^{(-)}] - S^{(\text{int})}_{p+h}[z^{(2)}; h^{(+)} - \frac{1}{2}h^{(-)}], \qquad (A.5)$$

where  $S_{p+h}^{(\text{int})}[z;h] = S_p^{(\text{int})}[z;h] + S_h^{(\text{int})}[h]$ . Also switching to the Keldysh-basis for the sources  $J_{\mu\nu}^{(\pm)}$ , the effective action can be evaluated as follows

$$e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{\text{eff}}^{(\text{int})}[z_{j}^{(1)}, z_{j}^{(2)}]} = \mathcal{N} \exp\left\{\frac{i}{\hbar}\mathcal{S}^{(\text{int})}\left[z_{j}^{(1)}, z_{j}^{(2)}, -i\hbar\frac{\delta}{\delta J^{(\mp)}}\right]\right\} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}W[J^{(\pm)}]}\Big|_{J_{\mu\nu}^{(\pm)}=0} \tag{A.6}$$

where

$$W[J^{(\pm)}] \equiv \frac{M^{\rho\lambda,\alpha\beta}}{2} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \begin{bmatrix} J^{(-)}_{\rho\lambda}(-k) \\ J^{(+)}_{\rho\lambda}(-k) \end{bmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} i\pi\delta(k^2) & \frac{1}{(k^0+i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{k}^2} \\ \frac{1}{(k^0-i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{k}^2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} J^{(-)}_{\alpha\beta}(k) \\ J^{(+)}_{\alpha\beta}(k) \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.7)

The non-zero diagonal element can be shown not to contribute to classical observables [63, 64] since it cannot occur in diagrams without loops or, alternatively, multiple sinks. So effectively we only need to worry about the retarded propagator

$$W[J^{(\pm)}] = M^{\rho\lambda,\alpha\beta} \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{J^{(-)}_{\rho\lambda}(-k)J^{(+)}_{\alpha\beta}(k)}{(k^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{k}^2}$$
(A.8)

after we have discarded all quantum effects in  $W[J^{(\pm)}]$ .

The explicit expression for the momentum change can now be obtained by inserting the effective action calculated according to (A.6) into equation (2.65). The diagrammatic rules for evaluating the momentum change can be worked out from (A.6). Apart from gravity-self-interactions, we get from (A.5) two types of interaction terms. After Fourier transforming the graviton field (ignoring convergence subtleties), they read

$$-m_j\sqrt{8\pi G} \int d\tau \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} h_{\alpha\beta}^{(+)}(k) (e^{-ik \cdot z_j^{(1)}} \dot{z}_j^{\alpha(1)} \dot{z}_j^{\beta(1)} - e^{-ik \cdot z_j^{(2)}} \dot{z}_j^{\alpha(2)} \dot{z}_j^{\beta(2)})$$
(A.9)

$$-\frac{1}{2}m_j\sqrt{8\pi G}\int d\tau \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4}h^{(-)}_{\alpha\beta}(k)(e^{-ik\cdot z_j^{(1)}}\dot{z}_j^{\alpha(1)}\dot{z}_j^{\beta(1)} + e^{-ik\cdot z_j^{(2)}}\dot{z}_j^{\alpha(2)}\dot{z}_j^{\beta(2)})$$
(A.10)

It is customary to think of the latter of these terms as a 'source' and the former as a 'sink' for the following reason: we only care about classical diagrams that contribute after we take the variation of the effective action with respect to  $z_j^{\alpha(1)}$  and subsequently set the two sets of variables equal  $z_j^{\alpha(1)} = z_j^{\alpha(2)} = r_j^{\alpha}$ . Only diagrams with exactly one sink-vertex will survive this operation, and only when we take the variation of only that sink-vertex. Thus, when calculating diagrams contributing to (2.65), we may operate with

$$-(-i\hbar)\eta^{\mu\nu} \left. \frac{\delta}{\delta z_j^{\nu(1)}(\tau)} \right|_{z_j^{\nu(i)}=r_j^{\nu}}$$

on the sink-term in advance and set  $z^{\nu(i)} = r^{\nu}$  on the source term to obtain the vertex factors given below. Here, the factor of  $-i\hbar$  comes from the left-hand side of (A.6). As usual we define the diagrams such that sinks/sources corresponding to particle 1 are written

on top of vertices corresponding to particle 2

$$\begin{split} & \alpha\beta \\ & \hbar k \downarrow \bullet = -\frac{i\sqrt{8\pi}m_2}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau' e^{-ik \cdot r_2(\tau')} \dot{r}_2^{\alpha}(\tau') \dot{r}_2^{\beta}(\tau') \\ & \alpha\beta \\ & \hbar k \downarrow \bullet \\ & \bigoplus = \sqrt{8\pi}m_2 \left[ ik^{\mu}e^{-ik \cdot r_2(\tau)} \dot{r}_2^{\alpha}(\tau) \dot{r}_2^{\beta}(\tau) + 2\frac{d}{d\tau} [e^{-ik \cdot r_2(\tau)} \eta^{\mu(\alpha} \dot{r}_2^{\beta)}(\tau)] \right] \\ & \bullet = -\frac{i\sqrt{8\pi}m_1}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau' e^{-ik \cdot r_1(\tau')} \dot{r}_1^{\alpha}(\tau') \dot{r}_1^{\beta}(\tau') \\ & \alpha\beta \\ & \alpha\beta \\ & \mu \\ & \bullet = \sqrt{8\pi}m_1 \left[ ik^{\mu}e^{-ik \cdot r_1(\tau)} \dot{r}_1^{\alpha}(\tau) \dot{r}_1^{\beta}(\tau) + 2\frac{d}{d\tau} [e^{-ik \cdot r_1(\tau)} \eta^{\mu(\alpha} \dot{r}_1^{\beta)}(\tau)] \right] \end{aligned}$$
(A.12)

and the propagator is given by

 $\alpha\beta$ 

$$\alpha\beta \underbrace{\approx}_{\overline{hk}} \mu\nu \equiv \frac{i\hbar M^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}}{(k^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{k}^2} \tag{A.13}$$

Momentum is conserved at each vertex and in the end all momentum variables are integrated over. Notice that we have factored out an appropriate power of the coupling constant G; however, the vertex factors contain additional factors of G, through their dependence on the classical trajectories as illustrated in the main text.

# B Classical limit of the worldline

In the derivation presented above we used the worldline representation for the solution to

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\right) + \frac{m_{j}^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} - i\epsilon\right)\Delta_{j}\left(x, y; h\right) = \frac{\delta^{4}\left(x - y\right)}{\sqrt{-g}}.$$
 (B.1)

We stated in the main text that the result may be written as follows  $[52, 78, 79]^3$ 

$$\Delta_j(x,y;h) = \mathcal{N} \int_0^\infty dT \int_{z(0)=x}^{z(T)=y} \mathcal{D}z e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{m_j}{2} \int_0^T ds \left\{ g_{\mu\nu}(z) \dot{z}^{\mu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \frac{\hbar^2}{4m_j^2} R(z) + 1 \right\}}$$
(B.2)

where

$$\mathcal{D}z \equiv \prod_{0 < s < T} d^4 z(s) \sqrt{-g(z(s))} \,. \tag{B.3}$$

<sup>3</sup>Up to regularization-dependent non-covariant counter-terms, see ref. [79] for a discussion of this issue.

We wish to simplify this as much as possible by discarding effects that will only become of importance at the quantum level. Analogous considerations have already been described in ref. [52] but we provide a slightly different approach.

Clearly, the  $-\frac{\hbar^2}{4m^2}R(z)$ -term in the exponent will not contribute in the classical limit and we hence omit it. Similarly, the factor of  $\sqrt{-g(z(s))}$  in the measure exponentiates to a term that is manifestly of quantum origin on account of the additional factor of  $\hbar$  and we can therefore ignore it if we focus on the classical limit. Next, we make the change of variables  $s \to u = s/T$ . This allows us to simplify (B.2) to

$$\Delta_j(x,y;h) = \mathcal{N} \int_{z(0)=x}^{z(1)=y} \mathcal{D}z \int_0^\infty dT e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_p[z;h;T]}$$
(B.4)

where

$$S_p[z;h;T] \equiv -\frac{m_j}{2} \int_0^1 du \left\{ \frac{1}{T} g_{\mu\nu}(z) \frac{dz}{du}^{\mu} \frac{dz}{du}^{\nu} + T \right\} \,. \tag{B.5}$$

In the classical limit we can evaluate the T-integral by the principle of stationary phase,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial T} S_p[z;h;T] \Big|_{T=T_{\rm cl}[z,h]} = 0 \tag{B.6}$$

which leads to the condition

$$T_{\rm cl}[z,h] = \left\{ \int_0^1 du g_{\mu\nu}(z) \frac{dz}{du}^{\mu} \frac{dz}{du}^{\nu} \right\}^{1/2}$$
(B.7)

Because the saddle-point condition on T implies that the equations of motion for z and h are independent of the functional dependence of  $T_{cl}[z, h]$  on z and h, we can treat  $T_{cl}$  as evaluated at the solutions to classical equations of motion for z and h, which we denote with subscript cl for the present purposes. When analysing the equations of motion for z, one finds that

$$\frac{d}{du} \left( g_{\mu\nu}(z_{\rm cl}(u)) \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\mu}}{du} \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\nu}}{du} \right) = 0, \qquad (B.8)$$

so  $T_{\rm cl}[z_{\rm cl}, h]$  is (the square root of) an integral of a constant. The integral is thus trivial. From (B.7) we can then identify  $T_{\rm cl}[z_{\rm cl}, h_{\rm cl}]$  as

$$T_{\rm cl} \equiv T_{\rm cl}[z_{\rm cl}, h_{\rm cl}] = \left\{ g_{\mu\nu}(z_{\rm cl}) \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\mu}}{du} \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\nu}}{du} \right\}^{1/2}$$
(B.9)

We now change variables back to from u to  $\tau = uT_{cl}$  and write the action as

$$S_p[z;h] \equiv S_p[z;h;T_{\rm cl}] = -\frac{m_j}{2} \int_0^{T_{\rm cl}} d\tau \left\{ g_{\mu\nu}(z) \frac{dz^{\mu}}{d\tau} \frac{dz^{\nu}}{d\tau} + 1 \right\}$$
(B.10)

which gives us the classical part of the Green function

$$\Delta_j(x,y;h) = \mathcal{N} \int_{z(\tau_{\rm in})=x}^{z(\tau_{\rm f})=y} \mathcal{D}z e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L_j[z,\dot{z},h]}$$
(B.11)

where  $\tau_f - \tau_{\rm in} = T_{\rm cl}$  is still the classical proper time as defined in (B.9). We have absorbed the normalization factor from the saddle-point integration over T into the overall constant  $\mathcal{N}$  and

$$L_j[z, \dot{z}, h] \equiv -\frac{m_j}{2} \left[ g_{\mu\nu}(z) \frac{dz^{\mu}}{d\tau} \frac{dz^{\nu}}{d\tau} + 1 \right], \qquad (B.12)$$

is the Polyakov form of the classical Lagrangian for a scalar particle on curved spacetime. As a side-note, (B.9) also implies that the classical path satisfies the useful relation

$$1 = g_{\mu\nu}(z_{\rm cl}) \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\mu}}{d\tau} \frac{dz_{\rm cl}^{\nu}}{d\tau}, \qquad (B.13)$$

which implies that the action evaluated along the classical path is proportional to the proper-time difference

$$S_p\left[z_{\rm cl};h\right] = -m_j \int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau \tag{B.14}$$

in agreement with what we would expect from classical mechanics.

# C Derivatives with respect to worldline end-points

In this appendix we go through the technical details on how to take derivatives with respect to the end-points of the worldline action in the classical limit. We begin by considering one derivative with respect to the upper end-point of (2.34)

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})\,\Delta(x,y;h)\tag{C.1}$$

Here we have dropped the particle label. We define  $z_{\rm cl}[x, y; \tau]$  to be solution to the classical equation of motion, i.e., it satisfies

$$\left[\frac{\partial L\left[z,\dot{z},h\right]}{\partial z^{\mu}} - \frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial L\left[z,\dot{z},h\right]}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}}\right]_{z=z_{\rm cl}} = 0,\tag{C.2}$$

subject to the boundary condition  $z_{\rm cl}^{\mu}[x, y; \tau_{\rm in}] = x$  and  $z_{\rm cl}^{\mu}[x, y; \tau_{\rm f}] = y$ . We next shift variables in the path integral (2.34) as follows

$$z^{\mu}(\tau) = z^{\mu}_{\rm cl}[x, y; \tau] + \zeta^{\mu}(\tau)$$
 (C.3)

It follows that the boundary conditions on the new variable are  $\zeta^{\mu}(\tau_{\rm f}) = \zeta^{\mu}(\tau_{\rm in}) = 0$ . Now we can write the derivative as

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})\Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau L\left[z_{\rm cl}[x,y;\tau]+\zeta,\dot{z}_{\rm cl}[x,y;\tau]+\dot{\zeta},h\right]}$$

$$= \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau \left[\frac{\partial L\left[z,\dot{z},h\right]}{\partial z^{\nu}}\partial_{y^{\mu}}z_{\rm cl}^{\nu} + \frac{\partial L\left[z,\dot{z},h\right]}{\partial \dot{z}^{\nu}}\partial_{y^{\mu}}\dot{z}_{\rm cl}^{\nu}\right]e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau L}$$

$$= \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta\left\{\left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\nu}}\partial_{y^{\mu}}z_{\rm cl}^{\nu}\right]_{\tau=\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} + \int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau\partial_{y^{\mu}}z_{\rm cl}^{\nu}\left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial z^{\nu}} - \frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\nu}}\right]_{z=z_{\rm cl}+\zeta}\right\}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau L}$$

$$= \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta\left\{\left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\nu}}\partial_{y^{\mu}}z_{\rm cl}^{\nu}\right]_{\tau=\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar)\right\}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}}d\tau L}$$

$$(C.4)$$

We have here used the fact that the last term in the third line is manifestly proportional to  $\hbar$  (and higher orders). This follows from an exact Schwinger-Dyson equation since the integrand is proportional to the equations of motion.

Using  $\partial_{y^{\mu}} z_{cl}^{\nu}[x, y; \tau_{in}] = \partial_{y^{\mu}} x^{\nu} = 0$  and  $\partial_{y^{\mu}} z_{cl}^{\nu}[x, y; \tau_{f}] = \partial_{y^{\mu}} y^{\nu} = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu}$  we get from the last line in equation (C.4)

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})\,\Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta \,\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}} \bigg|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L} \tag{C.5}$$

Had we instead differentiated with respect to x, only the lower boundary would survive,  $\partial_{x^{\mu}} z_{cl}^{\nu}[x, y; \tau_{in}] = \partial_{x^{\mu}} x^{\nu} = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu}$ , so we would have

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{x^{\mu}})\,\Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta \left(-\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}}\Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm in}}\right) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L} \tag{C.6}$$

Now let us explore what happens when we take one more derivative of (C.5)

$$(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\nu}})\Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{\zeta(\tau_{\rm in})=0}^{\zeta(\tau_{\rm f})=0} \mathcal{D}\zeta \left\{ \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}} \bigg|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\nu}} \bigg|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} - i\hbar\partial_{y^{\nu}} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}} \bigg|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} \right\} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L}$$
(C.7)

The second term is seen to be subleading in  $\hbar$ . In general, when we take any number of derivatives  $(-i\hbar\partial_{y^{\mu}})$  is replaced by  $\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}}\Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}}$  to leading order in  $\hbar$  and  $(-i\hbar\partial_{x^{\mu}})$  is replaced by  $-\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}}\Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm in}}$  to leading order in  $\hbar$ . Undoing the change of variables in (C.3), we can write the result as

$$(-i\hbar\partial_y)^n \Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{z(\tau_{\rm in})=x}^{z(\tau_{\rm f})=y} \mathcal{D}z \left\{ \left( \left. \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}} \right|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm f}} \right)^n + \mathcal{O}(\hbar) \right\} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L}$$
(C.8)

and by exactly the same arguments

$$(-i\hbar\partial_x)^n \Delta(x,y;h) = \int_{z(\tau_{\rm in})=x}^{z(\tau_{\rm f})=y} \mathcal{D}z \left\{ \left( -\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{z}} \Big|_{\tau=\tau_{\rm in}} \right)^n + \mathcal{O}(\hbar) \right\} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{\tau_{\rm in}}^{\tau_{\rm f}} d\tau L}$$
(C.9)

which were the results quoted in the main text.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- T. Damour, Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104015 [arXiv:1609.00354] [INSPIRE].
- T. Damour, High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044038 [arXiv:1710.10599] [INSPIRE].

- [3] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr et al., General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 171601 [arXiv:1806.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [4] C. Cheung, I.Z. Rothstein and M.P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 251101 [arXiv:1808.02489]
   [INSPIRE].
- [5] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 201603 [arXiv:1901.04424]
   [INSPIRE].
- [6] Z. Bern et al., Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 206 [arXiv:1908.01493] [INSPIRE].
- [7] T. Damour, Classical and quantum scattering in post-Minkowskian gravity, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 024060 [arXiv:1912.02139] [INSPIRE].
- [8] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Universality of ultra-relativistic gravitational scattering, Phys. Lett. B 811 (2020) 135924 [arXiv:2008.12743] [INSPIRE].
- [9] T. Damour, Radiative contribution to classical gravitational scattering at the third order in G, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124008 [arXiv:2010.01641] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Radiation Reaction from Soft Theorems, Phys. Lett. B 818 (2021) 136379 [arXiv:2101.05772] [INSPIRE].
- [11] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, *The eikonal approach to gravitational scattering and radiation at*  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$ , *JHEP* **07** (2021) 169 [arXiv:2104.03256] [INSPIRE].
- [12] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, Classical gravity from loop amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 026009 [arXiv:2104.04510] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, The amplitude for classical gravitational scattering at third Post-Minkowskian order, JHEP 08 (2021) 172
   [arXiv:2105.05218] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, The SAGEX review on scattering amplitudes Chapter 13: Post-Minkowskian expansion from scattering amplitudes, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443014 [arXiv:2203.13024] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A.V. Manohar, A.K. Ridgway and C.-H. Shen, Radiated Angular Momentum and Dissipative Effects in Classical Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 121601 [arXiv:2203.04283]
   [INSPIRE].
- [16] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes and Conservative Binary Dynamics at  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$ , Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** (2021) 171601 [arXiv:2101.07254] [INSPIRE].
- [17] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes, the Tail Effect, and Conservative Binary Dynamics at O(G4), Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 161103 [arXiv:2112.10750] [INSPIRE].
- [18] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, Effective Field Theory and Applications: Weak Field Observables from Scattering Amplitudes in Quantum Field Theory, arXiv:2212.08957 [INSPIRE].
- [19] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg and R. Russo, Angular momentum of zero-frequency gravitons, JHEP 08 (2022) 172 [arXiv:2203.11915] [INSPIRE].
- [20] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Classical gravitational observables from the Eikonal operator, Phys. Lett. B 843 (2023) 138049 [arXiv:2210.12118] [INSPIRE].

- [21] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, Post-Minkowskian radial action from soft limits and velocity cuts, JHEP 03 (2022) 071 [arXiv:2111.02976] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Cristofoli, N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard and P. Vanhove, *Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in general relativity*, *Phys. Rev. D* 100 (2019) 084040 [arXiv:1906.01579]
   [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Cristofoli, P.H. Damgaard, P. Di Vecchia and C. Heissenberg, Second-order Post-Minkowskian scattering in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 07 (2020) 122
   [arXiv:2003.10274] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States, JHEP **01** (2020) 072 [arXiv:1910.03008] [INSPIRE].
- [25] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, A. Cristofoli and P.H. Damgaard, Post-Minkowskian Scattering Angle in Einstein Gravity, JHEP 08 (2020) 038 [arXiv:1910.09366] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.10950] [INSPIRE].
- [27] B. Maybee, D. O'Connell and J. Vines, Observables and amplitudes for spinning particles and black holes, JHEP 12 (2019) 156 [arXiv:1906.09260] [INSPIRE].
- [28] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from Reverse Unitarity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 201602 [arXiv:2101.07255] [INSPIRE].
- [29] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Radiative classical gravitational observables at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  from scattering amplitudes, JHEP **10** (2021) 148 [arXiv:2104.03957] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Cristofoli, R. Gonzo, D.A. Kosower and D. O'Connell, Waveforms from amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 056007 [arXiv:2107.10193] [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Cristofoli et al., The Uncertainty Principle and Classical Amplitudes, arXiv:2112.07556 [INSPIRE].
- [32] P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, On an exponential representation of the gravitational S-matrix, JHEP 11 (2021) 213 [arXiv:2107.12891] [INSPIRE].
- [33] P.H. Damgaard, K. Haddad and A. Helset, *Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory*, *JHEP* 11 (2019) 070 [arXiv:1908.10308] [INSPIRE].
- [34] R. Aoude, K. Haddad and A. Helset, On-shell heavy particle effective theories, JHEP 05 (2020) 051 [arXiv:2001.09164] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Brandhuber, G. Chen, G. Travaglini and C. Wen, Classical gravitational scattering from a gauge-invariant double copy, JHEP 10 (2021) 118 [arXiv:2108.04216] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Brandhuber et al., Kinematic Hopf Algebra for Bern-Carrasco-Johansson Numerators in Heavy-Mass Effective Field Theory and Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 121601 [arXiv:2111.15649] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Brandhuber et al., Amplitudes, Hopf algebras and the colour-kinematics duality, JHEP 12 (2022) 101 [arXiv:2208.05886] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Brandhuber et al., One-loop gravitational bremsstrahlung and waveforms from a heavy-mass effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2023) 048 [arXiv:2303.06111] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and S. Thomas, *The subleading eikonal in supergravity theories*, *JHEP* **10** (2018) 038 [arXiv:1807.04588] [INSPIRE].

- [40] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia and R. Russo, Revisiting the second post-Minkowskian eikonal and the dynamics of binary black holes, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 066028
   [arXiv:1904.02667] [INSPIRE].
- [41] P. Di Vecchia et al., A tale of two exponentiations in  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 798 (2019) 134927 [arXiv:1908.05603] [INSPIRE].
- [42] P. Di Vecchia et al., A tale of two exponentiations in  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  supergravity at subleading level, JHEP 03 (2020) 173 [arXiv:1911.11716] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Extremal black hole scattering at O(G<sup>3</sup>): graviton dominance, eikonal exponentiation, and differential equations, JHEP 11 (2020) 023 [arXiv:2005.04236] [INSPIRE].
- [44] B. Bellazzini, G. Isabella and M.M. Riva, Classical vs quantum eikonal scattering and its causal structure, JHEP 04 (2023) 023 [arXiv:2211.00085] [INSPIRE].
- [45] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [46] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, Towers of Gravitational Theories, Gen. Rel. Grav. 38 (2006) 1537 [hep-th/0605238] [INSPIRE].
- [47] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, Dissipative effects in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104030 [hep-th/0511133] [INSPIRE].
- [48] W.D. Goldberger, J. Li and I.Z. Rothstein, Non-conservative effects on spinning black holes from world-line effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2021) 053 [arXiv:2012.14869] [INSPIRE].
- [49] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, Post-Minkowskian Effective Field Theory for Conservative Binary Dynamics, JHEP 11 (2020) 106 [arXiv:2006.01184] [INSPIRE].
- [50] G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems to Third Post-Minkowskian Order from the Effective Field Theory Approach, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 261103 [arXiv:2007.04977] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Tidal Effects in Compact Binary Systems to Next-to-Leading Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124025
   [arXiv:2008.06047] [INSPIRE].
- [52] G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 02 (2021) 048 [arXiv:2010.02865] [INSPIRE].
- [53] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from a Worldline Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 201103
   [arXiv:2101.12688] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Mougiakakos, M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung in the post-Minkowskian effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 024041 [arXiv:2102.08339]
   [INSPIRE].
- [55] M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Radiated momentum in the post-Minkowskian worldline approach via reverse unitarity, JHEP 11 (2021) 228 [arXiv:2110.10140] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M.M. Riva, F. Vernizzi and L.K. Wong, Gravitational bremsstrahlung from spinning binaries in the post-Minkowskian expansion, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 044013 [arXiv:2205.15295] [INSPIRE].

- [57] Z. Liu, R.A. Porto and Z. Yang, Spin Effects in the Effective Field Theory Approach to Post-Minkowskian Conservative Dynamics, JHEP 06 (2021) 012 [arXiv:2102.10059] [INSPIRE].
- [58] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Minkowskian order from the effective field theory approach, Phys. Lett. B 831 (2022) 137203 [arXiv:2106.08276] [INSPIRE].
- [59] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung and Hidden Supersymmetry of Spinning Bodies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 011101 [arXiv:2106.10256] [INSPIRE].
- [60] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, SUSY in the sky with gravitons, JHEP 01 (2022) 027 [arXiv:2109.04465] [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order in the Large-Eccentricity Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 161104 [arXiv:2112.11296] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G.U. Jakobsen and G. Mogull, Conservative and Radiative Dynamics of Spinning Bodies at Third Post-Minkowskian Order Using Worldline Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 141102 [arXiv:2201.07778] [INSPIRE].
- [63] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and B. Sauer, All things retarded: radiation-reaction in worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 10 (2022) 128 [arXiv:2207.00569] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Kälin, J. Neef and R.A. Porto, Radiation-reaction in the Effective Field Theory approach to Post-Minkowskian dynamics, JHEP **01** (2023) 140 [arXiv:2207.00580] [INSPIRE].
- [65] C. Dlapa et al., Radiation Reaction and Gravitational Waves at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 101401 [arXiv:2210.05541] [INSPIRE].
- [66] G.U. Jakobsen and G. Mogull, Linear response, Hamiltonian, and radiative spinning two-body dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 044033 [arXiv:2210.06451] [INSPIRE].
- [67] G.U. Jakobsen et al., Conservative scattering of spinning black holes at fourth post-Minkowskian order, arXiv:2306.01714 [INSPIRE].
- [68] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Bootstrapping the relativistic two-body problem, JHEP 08 (2023) 109 [arXiv:2304.01275] [INSPIRE].
- [69] S. Caron-Huot, Hard thermal loops in the real-time formalism, JHEP **04** (2009) 004 [arXiv:0710.5726] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K.-C. Chou, Z.-B. Su, B.-L. Hao and L. Yu, Equilibrium and Nonequilibrium Formalisms Made Unified, Phys. Rept. 118 (1985) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [71] M.J. Strassler, Field theory without Feynman diagrams: One loop effective actions, Nucl. Phys. B 385 (1992) 145 [hep-ph/9205205] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C. Schubert, Perturbative quantum field theory in the string inspired formalism, Phys. Rept. 355 (2001) 73 [hep-th/0101036] [INSPIRE].
- [73] E. Laenen, G. Stavenga and C.D. White, Path integral approach to eikonal and next-to-eikonal exponentiation, JHEP 03 (2009) 054 [arXiv:0811.2067] [INSPIRE].
- [74] C.D. White, Factorization Properties of Soft Graviton Amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2011) 060
   [arXiv:1103.2981] [INSPIRE].

- [75] F. Comberiati and L. de la Cruz, *Classical off-shell currents*, *JHEP* **03** (2023) 068 [arXiv:2212.09259] [INSPIRE].
- [76] C.R. Galley and M. Tiglio, Radiation reaction and gravitational waves in the effective field theory approach, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 124027 [arXiv:0903.1122] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Weinberg, *The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations*, Cambridge University Press (2005) [D0I:10.1017/CB09781139644167] [INSPIRE].
- [78] F. Bastianelli and A. Zirotti, Worldline formalism in a gravitational background, Nucl. Phys. B
   642 (2002) 372 [hep-th/0205182] [INSPIRE].
- [79] F. Bastianelli, K. Schalm and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Mode regularization, time slicing, Weyl ordering and phase space path integrals for quantum mechanical nonlinear sigma models, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 044002 [hep-th/9801105] [INSPIRE].